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Preface

Die vorliegende Untersuchung wurde im Wintersemester 2016/2017 an der Faculté
des Lettres et des Sciences Humaines der Université de Limoges und der Fakultit
fiir Geschichts- und Kunstwissenschaften der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universitét
Miinchen als Dissertation unter dem Titel ,,Possibilities of Royal Power in the Late
Carolingian Age: Charles III the Simple“ angenommen. Fiir die Publikation wurde
sie geringfiigig tiberarbeitet und neu erschienene Literatur nach Moglichkeit
berticksichtigt.

Die Université de Limoges und die Région Limousin haben die Arbeit an
dieser Studie mit einem Stipendium unterstiitzt. Dankbar bin ich zudem den
Monumenta Germaniae Historica in Miinchen, bei denen ich zuletzt nicht nur im
Rahmen eines Editionsprojektes wertvolle Erfahrungen sammeln durfte, sondern
vor allem auch Zugang zur groflartigen Institutsbibliothek erhalten habe.

Zutiefst verpflichtet bin ich meinen Doktoreltern, Professor Dr. Irmgard Fees
und Professor Dr. Philippe Depreux. Sie haben mir diese Studie ermdéglicht, mir
den Weg gewiesen, mich geférdert und mir mit Rat und Tat zur Seite gestanden.
Dank gebiihrt in diesem Zusammenhang dariiber hinaus Professor Dr. Régine
Le Jan, Professor Dr. Genevieve Biithrer-Thierry, Professor Dr. Knut Goérich,
Professor Dr. Simon MacLean, Professor Dr. Jacques Péricard und Dr. Anne
Massoni fiir mancherlei Hinweise und Unterstiitzung sowie ihre Mitwirkung an
der Disputatio. Hilfe habe ich auf die eine oder andere Art und Weise auch von
einer ganzen Reihe weiterer Personen erhalten, von denen ich gerne die folgenden
nenne: Professor Dr. Bertrand Lan¢on, Dr. Tobie Walther, Dr. Johannes Bernwieser,
Dr. Héléne Caillaud, Sarah Ewerling, Lucile Jaeck, und Anna Nierhoff. Hervorzuhe-
ben ist jedoch vor allem Dr. Fraser McNair, dessen Korrekturen, kenntnisreichen
Hinweisen und scharfsinniger Kritik ich auflerordentlich viel zu verdanken habe.
Auch drei weitere Personen seien besonders hervorgehoben: Natascha Wanninger,
fiir ihre Freundschaft und fiir ihre sprachlichen Korrekturen, Fabien Cerbelaud
von der Université de Limoges fiir die fantastischen von ihm erstellten Karten
sowie Dr. Claudie Paye fiir ihre Anleitung durch den Publikationsprozess.

Herzlicher Dank geht dariiber hinaus an Professor Dr. Martina Hartmann,
nicht nur fiir die Moglichkeit in den Hallen der Monumenta Germaniae Historica
zu arbeiten, sondern auch fiir die mir dabei eingerdumten Freiheiten und die
Unterstiitzung.

Schlief3lich danke ich meinen Freunden—unter ihnen insbesondere Dr. Hannes
Hain—die mich in den vergangenen Jahren unterstiitzt, mit mir gelacht und gelitten
haben und mit mir ungezahlte Kilometer auf verschiedensten Gewissern gerudert
sind. Die letzten Worte seien jedoch meiner Familie gewidmet: Ohne sie, ihre Liebe
und ihre Zuversicht hétte ich diese Arbeit weder beginnen noch beenden kénnen.

Hamburg, Juni 2018 Horst Lofllein






Summary

Charles IIT the Simple (893/898-923) only became king when nobles rebelling
against the Robertian Odo were in need of a candidate for the West Frankish
throne. Posthumously born to Louis II the Stammerer, he was of Carolingian
blood and thus able to provide the rebellion with an appearance of legitimacy.
The rebels on the other hand offered Charles the opportunity of a lifetime: after
14 years of being ignored by the leading nobles of the West Frankish realm, he
was finally able to succeed his father. Yet, while his reign lasted for 25 years, it
ended how it had started and Charles was deposed by a rebellion led by Robert
of Neustria. The circumstances of Charles’ elevation and deposition are among
the reasons for his image as a weak king, unable to control the nobles, and why
he counts as a prime example of the “decline and fall” of the Carolingian empire
towards the end of the 9th century. Yet, what does “weak king” mean? Modern
scholarship has long discarded the view of kingship as a question of royal orders
and noble obedience. Instead, it is understood as the result of a process involving
both the ruler and those around him. Successful kingship depended on the ruler’s
ability to integrate the nobles into this process, to mediate between their and his
own interests and to create consensus.

This understanding serves as basis for this new approach to fathoming out
the possibilities and limits of late Carolingian royal power. First, the focus is set
on the relations between the king and the nobles around him, interpreting royal
actions as the result of their interactions. Second, the customary hierarchy of the
source material is inverted. Royal diplomas, ideally suited to reveal the networks
of royal power, are placed at the centre of the analysis and subjected to rigorous
contextualisation, treating narrative sources as secondary. Third, the timeframe
of this study is extended back to the late 870s, covering the decades during which
the political landscape of the West Frankish realm underwent drastic changes that
determined the framework for Charles the Simple’s rule. Thus, not only these de-
velopments are revealed, but also comparisons can be made.

Charles’ first task after he became the sole king of the West Frankish realm
was to integrate his old opponents into his rule. This meant that he had to
bridge the old rivalry between these individuals and his allies from the struggle
with Odo, allies who now occupied key positions in the circle around him. A
dominating group of nobles agitating against their political rivals at the royal
court was nothing new and can also be observed during the reigns of Louis the
Stammerer and his sons Louis IIT and Carloman II. Under Charles the Fat this
situation changed. The emperor was able to promote men of his own choice
since his power base was located in the East Frankish realm and, equally im-
portant, key members of this dominating group such as Hugh the Abbot and
Gauzlin died. Death also opened the door to new political solutions for Charles
the Simple. In his case it was the murder of his key supporter, Fulk of Reims,



XV Summary

which allowed him to integrate his most important opponent into his rule:
Robert of Neustria.

Ensuring Robert’s cooperation was certainly a crucial factor to Charles’ rule.
Yet, his dependency on the marchio (or others like him, notably William the
Pious or Richard the Justiciar) should not be overestimated. Early on, Charles
was able to create a network of alliances that served as a counterweight. However,
to stabilise the realm in the long run, such opposition needed to be overcome.
Charles’ remarkable gift in integrating Robert and other powerful nobles into
his rule is demonstrated by the great successes of his rule: the change in strategy
towards the Northmen represented by the treaty of Saint-Clair-sur-Epte as well as
the integration of the leading Lotharingian nobles into the circle around him after
the acquisition of the regnum was accomplished without estranging those of the
Western realm. This acquisition also reveals how his political room for manoeuvre
had increased compared to his predecessors: given to Louis the Younger as a
lease after the death of Louis the Stammerer, Charles’ brothers efforts to regain
the regnum had been thwarted by their dependency on the alliance with the East
Frankish rulers to defend the realm against the Northmen and the rebellious Boso.
Charles, unhindered by such alliances, was able to pursue his interests much more
aggressively against his neighbours. However, the lack of such alliances meant that
he missed out on their stabilising effects in regard to the relations between him
and his nobles, a circumstance he tried to correct when his relations with the said
nobles deteriorated.

The key to understanding this deterioration lies in the importance of trust in
the relations between the ruler and the nobles around him. The rebellion against
Odo was the result of a crisis of trust that developed when Odo repeatedly acted
against the interests and expectations of the West Frankish nobles. Similarly,
Charles also appears to have developed a strong tendency to emphasise his majesty
and royal prerogative towards the end of his rule, his famous favouring of the ill-
liked Hagano being but one example. Yet, where Odo also achieved suppression
of the rebellion by taking actions that restored trust in him, Charles continued
on his path up to the point where even his closest allies turned away from him.
Thus, Charles’ neglect of ensuring the cooperation of the nobles and the creation
of consensus deprived him of the foundations of his rule and marked the limits of
his royal power.
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Introduction

Karolus stultus (“the Stupid” or “the Foolish”) and Karolus follus (“the Crazy”), but
also Karolus pius (“the Pious”) and Karolus sanctus (“the Saint”)'—these are only some
of the cognomina that 11th to 13th century authors attributed to Charles III, who in
modern times is called “der Einféltige” in German, “le Simple” in French and “the
Simple” in English. The meaning of the most common byname, simplex, has long
been analysed by Bernd Schneidmiiller,” who notes that it carried a positive meaning
up until the 11th century, depicting a virtue rather than carrying the negative conno-
tations that became dominant later and which are still reflected in its modern trans-
lations. Recently, however, Geoffrey Koziol has criticised Schneidmiiller’s results as
revisionist.’ He argues that simplex is a word typically associated with monks, equated
with “innocence” and thus conveys the image of a disadvantaged ruler. According
to him, it was Charles’ naivety which was perceived as having caused him to fall
into Count Heribert IT's hands—the event that branded him as simplex in the eyes of
the medieval chroniclers.* However, Koziol's own judgement differs fundamentally:
“Charles went down in West Frankish histories as ‘simple’ because once defeated at
Soissons, he trusted the word of the count of Vermandois and foolishly walked into
a trap. But Charles was anything but simple. He was one of the most intelligent and
complex of the Carolingians.”> Charles the Simple as a kind of failed genius? This as-
sessment is far removed from the judgement of Auguste Eckel, author of the first and
so far the only study of the Carolingian’s reign, who depicted him as “naturellement
bon, un peu faible de caractére et crédule, mais ne manquant, au besoin, ni dénergie
ni de volonté™ and even more removed from that of Ernst Diimmler, who described
him as incompetent, unwarlike and far less intelligent than his grandfather Charles
the Bald, yet ambitious all the same.” Of course, those latter characterisations are
mainly based on Charles the Simple’s final failure, his deposition at the hands of the
nobles and his inglorious capture by Count Heribert II of Vermandois in 923. Also,
perhaps, episodes described by the late 10th century authors Richer of Saint-Remi®
and Dudo of Saint-Quentin® may have been influential.

1 Eckel, Charles, 140-144 (appendix I) with the sources. Other cognomen used are insipiens, hebes

and parvus, but also minor, sanctus and pius.

Schneidmiiller, Einfaltigkeit.

Koziol, Politics.

Koziol, Politics, 461-465.

Koziol, Politics, 529.

Eckel, Charles, 139.

Diimmler, Geschichte III, 436.

For example on Charles’ relation to Hagano, Richer, I, c. 15, 51-52: Nam cum multa benignitate

principes coleret, precipua tamen beatitudine Haganonem habebat, quem ex mediocribus potentem

effecerat, adeo ut magnatibus quibusque longe absistentibus ipse regio lateri solus hereret, pilleum

etiam a capite regis sepissime sumptum, palam sibi imponeret.

9 Irefer to the famous foot kiss by a Northman, who instead of kneeling down before the king, lifted
the latter’s foot to his own mouth, making the king fall on his back. Dudo, De moribus II, c. 29, 169:

0NN W



2 Introduction

Evaluating Charles’ reign is a difficult task indeed. Louis II the Stammerer’s
third son, posthumously born by his second wife Adelaide, Charles disappears
from the sources for ten years after his birth, although undoubtedly there would
have been plenty to report about him. Passed over for the throne after the deaths of
his half-brothers Louis III and Carloman II, as well as that of his relative Charles III
the Fat, it is only due to the ascent of the Robertian Odo to the throne in 888 that
the sources permit a second glimpse at Charles in the context of the new king’s
first visit to Aquitaine. Then again the sources remain silent about him for another
five years until he suddenly reappears in Reims being crowned king himself by
a group of nobles around the archbishop of Reims, Fulk, who were in rebellion
against Odo. Over the following four years, a war ensued in which the Robertian’s
military superiority became increasingly evident. Nevertheless, in the end, the two
parties reached an “astonishing” agreement: Charles not only remained king over
a part of the realm, but would also succeed Odo on the throne—an event that took
place only some months later, when the latter died in late 897.

The narrative sources do not tell us much about Charles’ reign. The Annales
Vedastini alongside Regino of Priim’s chronicle, our main contemporary sources
for the late 9th century, break off in the year 900 while the annals of Flodoard,
the sole record of the early 10th century, only resume the narration in 919. While the
former are mostly neutral towards Charles, some remarks should be made on the
latter. In his annals, Flodoard betrays a hidden bias against Charles. An example
of this is his portrayal of Charles as a king who repeatedly violates God’s laws by
attacking his enemies on the most important Christian holidays and ruthlessly
devastating the realm that had been entrusted to him." One can hardly doubt that
Charles did pillage his opponents’ possessions and did not halt his war to celebrate
Pentecost; yet Flodoard’s silence on what his enemies were doing speaks volumes.
It is hard to imagine that their actions differed in any way from those of the king
they tried to depose.”” While his annals are not propaganda, they are victims of
the circumstances of their creation, namely the dominance of Charles” enemies.”

Francorum igitur precibus compulsus, jussit cuidam militi pedem regis osculari. Qui statim pedem
regis arripiens, deportavit ad os suum, standoque defixit osculum, regemque fecit resupinum. Itaque
magnus excitatur risus magnusque in plebe tumultus.

10 Schneidmiiller, Karl II1., 27.

11 Flodoard, Annales 922, 7: Anno DCCCCXXII, Karolus regnum Lothariense, ob persecutionem Gisle-
berti et Othonis, rapinis, sacrilegiis atque incendiis, etiam in tempore Quadragesimae, sicut et tota
hieme vastat. Flodoard, Annales 923, 13: Et in crastinum, die dominica, hora jam sexta praeterita,
Francis dehinc illa die proelium non sperantibus, plurimis quoque prandentibus, Karolus Axonam
transiit, et super Rotbertum cum armatis Lothariensibus venit.

12 Other examples for Flodoard’s unrealiability would be his clearly wrong mention of a united
front of the West Frankish nobles against Charles (see Lecouteux, Contexte II, 289-292) and his
refusal to depict Charles as king after the coronation of Robert apart from his death notice in 929
(Flodoard, Annales 929, 44: Karolus quoque rex apud Perronam obiit.) On the careful choice of
titles by Flodoard, see Jacobson, Titel.

13 Lecouteux, Contexte II, 287-298. On his bias against Charles, see also Jacobsen, Flodoard, 15-16
and Glenn, Politics, 207.
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Thus, Flodoard’s account does not lose its credibility, but we should be aware that
as often as he reported some events, he also turned a blind eye to others."

As mentioned, for most of his reign there exist hardly any sources at all. There-
fore, we know about two of the main events of Charles’ rule almost exclusively
from the meagre accounts composed east of the Rhine, later narratives, like
those of the aforementioned Richer of Saint-Remi and Dudo of Saint-Quentin
and Charles’ royal diplomas. In an event traditionally dated to 911, after the bat-
tle of Chartres, Charles granted the Northmen under Rollo a territory that was to
become the heart of the future duchy of Normandy by the treaty of Saint-Clair-
sur-Epte. Later during the same year, Charles became king of Lotharingia when
the nobles of this regnum chose the Carolingian over the new king of Eastern
Francia, Conrad I. Flodoard alone provides more detailed information about the
last years of Charles’ reign, which were overshadowed by different conflicts. In
Lotharingia, the king fought Count Gislebert while in the West the nobles around
Odo’s brother Robert rebelled against him. This latter conflict proved to be fatal
for Charles’ reign: the nobles made Robert their new king and even after his death
shortly afterwards in the battle of Soissons, they chose his son-in-law, Raoul, over
Charles. Seeking new allies, Charles put himself in the hands of Count Heribert II
of Vermandois, was imprisoned and was then used by the count to exert pressure
on Raoul until his death in 929.

It may be because of the general lack of sources for Charles’ reign that scholars
have devoted little attention to him and his reign. Since Auguste Eckel produced
a biographical analysis in 1899," only Geoftrey Koziol has published a number of
articles'® and dedicated parts of his monography on the politics of memory and
identity to him."” That is not to say that Charles’ time, its problems and its general
developments have been completely ignored by scholarship. A number of studies
on specific aspects of this period have been brought forward, covering key politi-
cal figures like Archbishop Heriveus of Reims," Count Heribert II of Vermandois"
and Count Hagano® or key events such as the conflict around the episcopal siege
of Liege in 920/921* or the conversion of the Northmen under Rollo.*> Most com-
monly, however, Charles has been treated as one amongst many rulers in general
surveys® or handbooks.**

14 For the biases of Flodoard’s other great work, the History of the Church of Reims, see chapter II1.3.
15 Eckel, Charles.

16 Koziol, Robert; Koziol, Charles the Simple; Koziol, Charles.

17 Koziol, Politics.

18 Schmitz, Heriveus.

19 Schwager, Graf.

20 Depreux, Comte.

21 Zimmermann, Streit.

22 Guillot, Conversion.

23 For example Hlawitschka, Lotharingien; Schneidmiiller, Tradition and Guillot, Formes.
24 For example Schneidmiiller, Karl and Bruand, Francie.



4 Introduction

Scholarly discussion about the reign of Charles the Simple revolves around
three main axes. The first concerns the general state of the realm, that is to say, the
balance of power between the king and the nobles. The old view, emphasising the
infidelity of the nobles towards the king as the main problem of Charles’ reign,”
reading royal-noble relations as a constant struggle for power,* has long been
challenged and modified. For example, Bernd Schneidmiiller, although still close
to the old readings, has brought forward the creation of a new ministerial class
created from the Lotharingian lower nobility by Charles, which was supposed to
act as a counterweight to the powerful higher nobility.” More influential was Karl
Ferdinand Werner’s proposal of cooperation between the king and the highest no-
bles in relation to the emergence of the principalities in the West Frankish realm.
According to him, in return for giving those powerful men a vice-regal position,
Charles would have gotten their support and thus stabilised his reign.*® While the
overall image of powerful nobles becoming marchiones and controlling large parts
of the regnum has been generally accepted,” Werner’s suggestion that this system
was consciously and purposely created by Charles has been criticised. Instead, it
has been emphasised that the foundations of this development had already been
laid earlier, during the reigns of his immediate predecessors® or even during the
reign of Charles the Bald* and that his grandson Charles the Simple only slowly
succumbed to circumstance.” Thus, his rule is not seen as having been built upon
the investiture of powerful individuals as his surrogates, but founded on changing
alliances with different groups of nobles.” Further criticism of Werner’s hypothesis
highlights the differences in Charles’ control over the various regions of the realm.
While intense in the area north of the Loire, south of the river his rule would have
been no more than nominal.**

A second line of thought revolves around the problem of Charles the Simple’s
legitimacy and its influence on his position as king. His father’s two marriages
and their validity have always been subject to scholarly study,® yet whether this
actually played a role in late 9th century politics remains controversial. Those em-
phasising its importance claim it was the reason why Charles had been passed over
for the throne, at least in 883/884,* or why he underlined his Carolingian decent

25 Eckel, Charles.

26 Classic Dhondt, Etudes.

27 Schneidmiiller, Tradition. In a later publication however (Schneidmiiller, Karl) we find no more
traces of this idea.

28 Werner, Westfranken and Werner, Urspriinge.

29 See, for example, also Guillot, Formes.

30 Guillot, Formes.

31 Sassier, Hugues.

32 Kienast, Vasallitat.

33 Ehlers, Anfinge. Like Schneidmiiller, Ehlers later changed his view and supported a view closer to
Werner’s (Ehlers, Strukturen).

34 Riché, Carolingiens.

35 For example Eckel, Charles, 1-2.

36 Hlawitschka, Lotharingien.
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once he had become king in order to strengthen his rule.”” Charles certainly seems
to have possessed a strong consciousness of his family background and of ques-
tions of legitimate and illegitimate birth—according to Geoffrey Koziol, this latter
also resulted in a distinct dislike of his half-brothers Louis IIT and Carloman II.**
However, while this emphasis on his Carolingian heritage seems to be the general
consensus of scholarship, the political significance of Charles” problematic legiti-
macy is more often doubted than stressed. In particular, other reasons have been
brought forward concerning its role in the royal succession,” thus questioning the
political significance of Carolingian legitimacy for the late Carolingian age.

A third discussion centres on the reasons for the final failure of Charles’ reign,
which culminated in his deposition. Some scholars attribute the rebellion of the
nobles solely to the promotion of Charles’ intimate Hagano.*® Others interpret the
king’s favourite as an example of a general policy pursued by Charles, emphasising
the royal prerogative to choose his councillors, as opposed to the seemingly more
successful strategies of Berengar I or Henry the Fowler, who acted as primus inter
pares.* Still others argue for a change in the structure of Charles’ rule, caused by
more aggressive royal policies against the leading nobles.*> This view of a change
in royal politics has been criticised by Geoffrey Koziol as an argument a silencio
based on the lack of sources for most of Charles’ reign. In turn, he argues that
Charles’ rule was characterised by a constant rivalry between the king and Rob-
ert of Neustria.* In this context, special roles have been attributed to the effects
of the treaty of Saint-Clair-sur-Epte as well as to the acquisition of Lotharingia.
Thus, Rollo’s investiture with the pagi along the Seine is sometimes interpreted as
an effort to establish a counter-balance against Robert.** Similarly, the extension
of Charles’ rule over Lotharingia, while sometimes seen as having had a stabilis-
ing effect on his reign,* is more commonly interpreted as having had a negative
influence on his relations with nobles from the Western realm. Royal presence in
Lotharingia is supposed to have led to a shift of Charles’ main power base away
from Western Francia, which resulted in him being estranged from the Western
nobles,* or, at least, in an increased competition for influence at the royal court,
thus destabilising the newly found balance.”

37 Schneidmiiller, Tradition and even stronger Schneidmiiller, Karl. This thought has been taken up
Briihl, Deutschland and Koziol, Canons.

38 Koziol, Canons.

39 See for example Briihl, Deutschland; Sassier, Hugues; Offergeld, Reges pueri and Bruand, Francie.
Ehlers, Anfinge and Riché, Carolingiens do not discuss the problem at all.

40 Eckel, Charles; Riché, Carolingiens. Against this view Briihl, Deutschland, who reads the re-
proaches of the nobles because of Hagano as mere pretexts for their rebellion.

41 Le Jan, Elites et révoltes, 418—419 and Royaume, 93—94.

42 Werner, Westfranken; Ehlers, Anfinge.

43 Koziol, Charles; Koziol, Politics.

44 Le Jan, Elites et révoltes, 418; Plassmann, Normannen, 75-76.

45 Werner, Origines; Sassier, Hugues.

46 Schneidmiiller, Tradition and Bruand, Francie.

47 Schneidmiiller, Karl; Ehlers, Strukturen and Le Jan, Elites et révoltes, 418.
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This reading of Charles’ reign as a struggle for power between the king and
the leading nobles points to the wider discourse among scholars over the struc-
tures of Carolingian rule and the diminution of royal power over the course of
the 9th century. Step by step, the boundaries for the beginning of this decline
have been moved from the last years of Charlemagne’s reign* to the end of that
of Louis the Pious,” then to the death of Charles the Bald® and finally to the
deposition of Charles the Fat.* However, there are some important gaps left in
thestudy oflate Carolingian kingship. Leaving aside Charles the Simple, for Louis the
Stammerer and his sons Louis IIT and Carloman II no published studies exist at
all”* and the sole monograph on the reign of Eudes dates back to 1893.% This lack of
modern analysis may be a reason why the period after 888 is often still assessed as
a time when royal rule is supposed to have suffered from a crisis of legitimacy and
authority.>* Especially concerning the reign of Charles the Simple, these assess-
ments are often particularly pessimistic, with Gerhard Schmitz’s (already rather
dated) conclusion about the restraints placed on his rule representing the low point.
According to him, Charles’ “Handlungsfahigkeit nach innen und nach auflen
[war] nicht nur begrenzt, sondern fast aufgehoben. Letztlich hatte sein Konigtum
nur so lange Bestand, wie die grofien Vasallen es zu tolerieren bereit waren; Un-
terstiitzung konnte Karl von ihnen nicht erhoffen, einen Konflikt mit ihnen aber
auch nicht riskieren, denn dessen Ausgang war bereits zu Ungunsten des Konigs
vorprogrammiert.”*®

Possibilities and limits of late Carolingian rule

Schmitz aims to capture what in more general terms can be described as the king’s
room for manoeuvre or, to apply another term, as his Handlungsspielraum. This
latter concept provides a great basis for the exploration of the limitations a ruler
was subject to and the possibilities available to him in political situations. How-
ever, while this term is frequently used especially by German historians, attempts
to actually define its meaning and to use the concept behind it as an analytical
tool are, given the number and variety of publications on the matter, very rare.>®

48 Ganshof, Fin.

49 De Jong, Penitential state.

50 Nelson, Charles.

51 MacLean, Kingship.

52 Closest are the introduction of Bautier, Recueil Louis II, Louis IIT et Carloman II and Werner,
Gauzlin as well as the chapters I11.3.1.-3.2. of Offergeld, Reges pueri.

53 Favre, Eudes. Not counting Guillot, Etapes, a study limited to Odo’s accession to the throne.

54 Le Jan, Elites et révoltes; Le Jan, Royaume and Falkowski, Monarchie. Against this reading, see now
McNair, Development, esp. part I.

55 Schmitz, Heriveus, 82.

56 Examples for its usage without outlining its meaning are Haverkamp, Einfithrung; Fossel, Kénigin;
Widder, Margarete “Maultasch”; Huber, Handlungsspielraum; Stickler, Handlungsspielraum.



Possibilities and limits of late Carolingian rule 7

“Political Handlungsspielraum is the sum of possible options of action which can
be implemented successfully by the political decision-maker™” is a simple defini-
tion used by political scientists. The existence of Handlungsspielraum is therefore
bound to two conditions: a) a political situation requiring the political actor to
become active and b) this actor having at least two different options that may lead
to success and that he can choose from.

However, the range of options available to the actor is subject to certain con-
straints.®® One of these is the human limitations of the actor himself. The knowledge
available to him is limited, as are his cognitive abilities to process this knowledge
in regard to the possible consequences of his options. Thus, he only acts under
“bounded rationality” Hence, human nature itself limits the actor’s options by
preventing him from knowing about all of them and everything about them. Yet,
there are also other constraints to his pool of options. In sociological approaches
Handlungsspielraum defines the degree of freedom of an individual embedded
into a society. “The more choices this individual has in decision situations, the
more limited the restrictive conditions, the bigger is the Handlungsspielraum?*
Thus, the decision-making individual is conceived as part of a bigger group, a soci-
ety, which in turn limits his options. The practical philosopher Werner Stegmaier
has included these restrictive conditions in his own definition: “A [Handlungs]
spielraum is the ‘space’ of a movement limited by rules, in which another, ‘playful’
movement, not subject to these rules, in this sense a ‘play’ free of rules, becomes
possible; in short: the regulated limits of unregulated behaviour. ‘Within’ these lim-
its the behaviour may very well be subject to its own rules”® Thus, if an individual
decision-maker is part of a greater community, he is subject to the rules existing in
this society. Each of his actions underlies these predefined rules, yet, within these
rules a certain space for own choices exists, which may possibly be dependent on
other rules. The rules existing in a society are defined by whether other members
of said society will consider the actual action decided upon as normatively and
cognitively appropriate or inappropriate.® Therefore, as a set, the rules existing

Resch, Freiheit, gives some thoughts on the restrictions of individual Handlungsspielrdume.
Notable exceptions are Auge, Handlungsspielraiume and Poguntke, Handlungsspielrdume.

57 “[Politischer Handlungsspielraum ist] die Menge moglicher Handlungsoptionen, die politische
Handlungstrager umzusetzen in der Lage sind.” Sattler and Walter, Handlungsspielraum, 465.

58 See Tilly and Goodin, It depends.

59 Simon, Human Nature, 294.

60 “Handlungsspielraum bezeichnet das Maf3 an Freiheit, welches die gesellschaftliche Einbettung
dem Individuum belésst. Je mehr Alternativen in einer Entscheidungssituation zur Verfiigung
stehen, je geringer die einschrankenden Bedingungen, desto grofier ist der Handlungsspielraum.”
Lautmann, Handlungsspielaum, 271.

61 Stegmaier, Philosophie, 221: “Ein Spielraum ist ein durch Regeln begrenzter ‘Raum’ einer
Bewegung, in dem eine nicht diesen Regeln gehorchende ‘spielerische’ Bewegung, ein in diesem
Sinn von Regeln freies ‘Spiel’ moglich wird, kurz: eine geregelte Grenze ungeregelten Verhaltens.
‘Innerhalb’ der Grenze kann das Verhalten wohl eigenen Regeln gehorchen”

62 March and Olsen, Logic, 479. See also Lagroye, Sociologie, 168—171, who argues that these rules
are also influenced by the party acting within the society. While this is certainly correct for the
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in a society constitute the framework defining appropriate behaviour within this
society. Thus, each decision taken is the result of a process of negotiations to which
rules apply and regarding which of those rules are to be considered stronger.®* In
some cases, this framework limits the possibilities of how to act in certain situa-
tions, while in others a large pool of options may exist. The range of these options
within a given framework is expressed by the term Handlungsspielraum.

However, these frameworks are not static.** Rules may change over time and
actions that have been considered acceptable before can, in similar situations at
later points, become unacceptable and vice versa. Especially in times of crisis and
disorientation, the existing framework is questioned and shifts within it may take
place.® It would also be wrong to assume that at any given time only one frame-
work exists which determines the appropriateness of actions for any member of
the society. In fact, different frameworks may coexist at the same time, each with
its own set of rules. An example for these would be rules of behaviour stemming
from one’s perception of oneself, that is to say, from one’s identity. These often
collide with frameworks provided by society, thus leading to behaviour outside
the limits of what is generally considered appropriate.®® This is especially the case
in less stable and well-defined political systems,” such as those existing in the late
Carolingian era.

Hence, sounding out Handlungsspielraum is a process of negotiation between
different systems of rules. However, this implies that there is a certain degree of
flexibility inherent to these rules. Following Philippe Buc, it seems appropriate not
to speak of “rules,” but rather of “norms” to emphasise this aspect.®® When refer-
ring to the realisation of these processes of negotiation, we can go even further and
introduce another nuance. In the end, these processes are not only determined by
the norms of the participating actors, but by their expectation that their opposite
knows, acknowledges and acts not only according to his own norms, but takes
also those of the other participants into consideration. This expectation can be
described as trust, with the assumed probability that this expectation will be met
by the other according to the degree of trust in the other.® Hence, the existence of
a certain degree of trust can be described as the prerequisite for negotiating since

macro-environment described by Lagroye (the Church or another big organisation partaking in
the political competition), this influence would be rather limited when it comes to individuals.

63 Crozier and Friedberg, Acteur, 36-37.

64 March and Olsen, Logic, 485-489.

65 Eder, Societies. See Lagroye, Sociologie, 4953 for the influence of a society’s environment on its
development.

66 Orren and Skowronek, Iconography. On the role of appropriateness in the decision-making
process, see also Lazega, Appropriateness.

67 March and Olsen, Logic, 482.

68 Buc, Review, 253, responding to the term “Spielregeln” introduced by Gerd Althoff to the
historiography. On the development of “Spielregeln”, see Kamp, Macht, 1-10.

69 On the concept of trust and its implications, see the introduction to chapter VI.
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it ensures the willingness to cooperate” and thus becomes an important part for
determining one’s Handlungsspielraum within a society.

When determining the possibilities and limitations of late Carolingian rule
this leads to another question. The result of these negotiations is not only a ques-
tion of the norms of each individual actor and of the trust existing between the
participants. The strength of the individuals’ identities also plays a role, as does
the assessment of the situation as well as the available resources to realise any
option.” The importance of the last point is revealed when taking into considera-
tion that this process of negotiation was not always one of equal interaction in
the late Carolingian age. Late Carolingian politics were a constant flux of negotia-
tions between the interests of the king and the nobles and, therefore, as Simon
MacLean put it, “potentially unstable””> Each of these negotiations can be read
as sounding out the possible ways of action, for the ruler as well as for the other
nobles participating in the decision-making process or affected by their results. If
the latter disliked the royal actions, they would offer resistance, either forcing an
adjustment to or even change of the royal politics (possibly even by changing the
king himself) or else being forced by the king to submit to his view. Thus, the royal
Handlungsspielraum was not only determined by norms, but also by the capacity
the king had to enforce his own norms over those of others. This even goes so far
as to limit the importance of trust: overwhelming power on one side could simply
leave no other option than to submit. The ratio of the power between the ruler and
the nobles opposing his politics thus defined the possibilities and limits of royal
power. When asking for these possibilities and limits during the late Carolingian
era, it is therefore best to start by analysing the actual functioning of royal power
during this time.

The functioning of royal power

The traditional starting point in analysing the potential power of any Carolin-
gian king is the royal fisc.” The lands under direct royal control had originally
been created by taking over the Roman civitates and imperial estates during the
5th century and later supplemented by the Carolingian family lands when they
superseded the Merovingians as the ruling dynasty. From the fisc, the kings drew
the resources to equip their soldiers, to supply the court on its travels through the
realm and to maintain their palaces and estates, the latter standing as reminders of

70 For the importance of trust in interpersonal relations, see, for example, Marzano, Confiance.

71 March and Olsen, Institutions, 22; March and Olsen, Logic, 492—493 and Gulati and Srivastava,
Agency.

72 MacLean, Kingship, 96.

73 On the problems associated with the fisc, see Barbier, Fisc. Fundamental also Briihl, Fodrum and
Barbier, Palatium.
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their authority even in their absence.” Trying to establish the extent of the fisc at
any given moment, however, poses problems that are impossible to solve. Almost
all of our knowledge concerning royal property derives from the royal diplomas
donating parts of it to individuals and institutions,” telling us only which parts
the king had decided to part with and not how much he actually possessed and
controlled. Yet, it seems clear that it was concentrated around the palaces and in
the core regions of royal power,” while those parts given away were often situated
outside these heartlands, where they would have been difficult to control.”” But the
fisc did not simply undergo a process of continual diminution through grants; it
was also replenished by acquisition, inheritance, gifts or confiscation of property
in cases of treason, all of which were hardly ever documented by royal charters.
Thus, the fisc was in constant flux and, given the gaps in our sources, any attempt
to reconstruct it at a certain moment or shorter period must prove futile.” In any
case, the landed possessions only provided part of the royal income. Other wealth
was also drawn from different fiscal rights on trade, such as tolls and markets, or
from minting, which is equally impossible to quantify.”® In times of war, plunder
and tribute could be obtained from the defeated, which provided an important
means of rewarding armies.* Finally, becoming ever more important during the
second half of the 9th century, the kings could also access the resources of eccle-
siastical institutions, churches and abbeys, both being under royal protection and
therefore open to royal influence.

Counts were charged with the care of the royal estates, as well as keeping the
peace in their counties, doing justice, putting royal decrees into practice and rais-
ing levies for royal campaigns, thus transmitting royal power to every corner of
the realm.® West of the Rhine, these counties appear to have been often centred
on the old Roman civitates; east of the river, they were newly created and oriented
towards landscape and settlement structures. However, within these counties en-
claves existed, chiefly landed possessions of ecclesiastical institutions that had
been granted royal immunity. Still others were created by the control of the unfree
by the free. Since counts only had jurisdiction over the free, those areas which

74 Renoux, Architecture, 25.

75 On these donations, see Dhondt, Etudes and Ganshof, Note.

76 Barbier, Palatium, 28.

77 Martindale, Kingdom; Barbier, Palatium, 50-53; Innes, State, 204 and Airlie, Palace, 11.

78 Although efforts have been made: concerning Charles the Simple, see Eckel, Charles, 41-43 and
concerning the region between the Loire and Moselle, Barbier, Palatium (although covering the
period from the 5th to the 10th century and not at a specific moment).

79 Endemann, Markturkunde, 105-61, Nelson, Charles, 19—-40. On the Carolingian economy in gen-
eral, see Devroey, Economy and Verhulst, Economy. On tolls, see Adam, Zollwesen.

80 Reuter, Plunder.

81 Nelson, Kingship, 389391 and West, Reframing, 42—44.

82 Nelson, Kingship, 410—411; Innes, State and West, Reframing, 20. For an early example of the idea of
the counts (or better, office holders in general, including ecclesiastical ones like bishops) being agents
of the king, controlled by him and deriving their ministerium from him, see Guillot, Ordinatio.
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were inhabited only by the unfree remained outside their direct control.** While
the importance of these offices is clear, more interesting for us is the question
of royal control over the office holders. One possibility for the kings to exercise
control was to install counts of their choosing. However, the ability to do so
appears to have been limited. Most of these cases documented by the sources oc-
curred when the county system was introduced in newly conquered territories
and even then, the choice often fell on local nobles, since they had to rely on their
own resources and connections to fulfil their tasks.** Another possibility was to
take control of a county after its count had died. For a long time, scholars as-
sumed that, from Charles the Bald’s capitulary of Quierzy at the latest,* the office
of count had become hereditary.* While this reading misses the true character
of the clause, which in fact confirms the royal prerogative to control succession,*”
nevertheless, the passing of a county from father to son already appears to have
been common practice for a long time.*® Actual royal control over the countships
appears to have ranged between these two extremes. The redistribution of counties
was a generally accepted right of the king, as long as he could claim that the office
holder had failed to properly fulfil his duties.* Kings certainly claimed to exercise
influence in such matters, yet whether they were actually able to implement their
view differed from case to case.”

Next to the counties, a parallel and at least as important administrative system
existed based on ecclesiastical organisation. Episcopal power was typical of the
way Carolingian society worked, as it was situated at the frontiers between the
profane and the sacral worlds and thus reached into both.” Apart from their spir-
itual responsibilities, within their dioceses bishops were also responsible for keep-
ing public order and speaking justice. Like the counts, they participated in public
assemblies and political decision making and provided, probably more reliably
than the counts,”” substantial resources for royal politics.” Like counts they acted
as royal legates, like counts they acted as conduits of royal power. However, unlike

83 Deutinger, Konigsherrschaft, 148-149.

84 Nelson, Charles, 51.

85 MGH Capit. IT, N° 281, c. 9, 358.

86 For the development of this idea dating back to Montesquieu, see Bourgeois, Capitulaire, 155-205.
The idea is still prevalent among scholars, see for example Werner, Naissance, 432.

87 As already pointed out by Bourgeois, Capitulaire. See also Guillot and Sassier, Pouvoirs I, 144-145.

88 Nelson, Charles, 53-54.

89 As laid down in the treaty of Coulaines 843 (MGH Conc. III, N° 3, c. 3, 16). Guillot and Sassier,
Pouvoirs I, 141-145. For the treaty of Coulaines, see Apsner, Vertrag, chapter I. On the process of
the investiture of counts as well as on their deposition, see Depreux, Investitures.

90 Deutinger, Konigsherrschaft, 153-158; Glansdorff, Comites, 24—31 and Nelson, Charles, 54.

91 Biihrer-Thierry, Episcopat, 147.

92 Nelson, Kingship, 390.

93 An example would be Heriveus of Reims who, according to Flodoard’s History of the Church of
Reims, aided Charles the Simple with 1.500 men against the Hungarians (Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 14,
407). For episcopal lordships, see Kaiser, Bischofsherrschaft. For episcopal participation in royal
assemblies and decision-making, see Eichler, Reichsversammlungen, 29-38 and 73-76.
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that of the counts, episcopal investiture was officially regulated by canonical law,
that is to say, their election resided with the clergy and people of their respective
dioceses.” Reality, of course, was different, as Carolingian kings often aimed to
install their own candidates.” For example, Charles the Bald exercised close con-
trol over the sees of Reims, Sens and Rouen.”® Therefore, while the royal role in
these elections led to conflicts with important ecclesiastical dignitaries, most often
both parties appear to have sought a consensual agreement, resulting in the West
Frankish realm in the integration of the royal prerogative into the canonical pro-
cedure of the appointment of a new bishop.” Besides the king, the local nobility
also had its say in the elections, trying to raise their own candidates, often rela-
tives, to the episcopal throne. This did not necessarily counteract royal aspirations
since the member of a local family might well be the choice of the king too if said
family belonged to the circle of his own supporters.” Thus, episcopal succession
presents itself as the competition of various, sometimes opposing, interests, yet it
was one with seemingly more possibilities for the rulers to install candidates of
their choice.

Limiting our view to resources and offices, however, fails to portray the func-
tioning of Carolingian kingship. As has already come through in the previous
comments, we can make out its true basis: relations between the king and the
nobles.”” Counts and bishops provided resources and transmitted royal power
even into the distant regions of the realm, but royal control over both was lim-
ited. The kings tried to influence elections and install their own candidates, yet
to succeed, they depended on the cooperation of the local nobility. In the words
of Martin Gravel: “L’Empire carolingien doit étre congu comme un réseau de
relations, comme I’enchevétrement des liens du baptéme, du sang, de Ialliance,
de I’amitié, de la servitude et d’une multitude de fidélités”'® Only by creating
bonds between themselves and the nobles, by creating consensus about their king-
ship in general and each individual decision, could their rule succeed." Kingship
was not simply the giving of orders, but necessarily needed to show consideration
for the interests of those involved. In consequence, ruling consisted of constant

94 On the development of the royal investiture, see Schieffer, Entstehung, 10-26.

95 See Schieffer, Bischofserhebungen.

96 Bithrer-Thierry, Episcopat, 153. His influence on the episcopal sees in the south of his realm on
the other hand, appears to have been almost inexistent.

97 An example of this is Hincmar’s letter to Louis III in 881 (Migne, PL 126, col. 112B): in electione
episcopi assensio regis sit, non electio. See also Schieffer, Bischofserhebungen.

98 Basic for the episcopal election in Western Francia, de la Tour, Elections. More recent also Erk-
ens, Bischofswahl; Schieffer, Bischofserhebungen; Biihrer-Thierry, Episcopat and Deutinger,
Konigsherrschaft, 111-128. On episcopal power, see Kaiser, Bischofsherrschaft and Patzold, Epis-
copus. On royal-episcopal relations, see Biihrer-Thierry, Evéques.

99 Rosenwein, Politics; Innes, State and Innes, Charlemagne, 86.

100 Martin Gravel, Distances, 413.

101 On consensus in medieval rule, see Hannig, Consensus; Schneidmiiller, Konsensuale Herrschaft;
Apsner, Vertrag; Patzold, Konsens; Deutinger, Konigsherrschaft; Nelson, Carolingians and Le
Jan, Elites carolingiennes.
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negotiations between different interests and each balance found between these
interests was fragile and in need of constant care.'

A key factor for the relations between the king and his nobles was the distribu-
tion of honores, that is to say, land and offices."” The former could be part of the
fisc, belong to abbeys or churches or be confiscated from disloyal nobles; the latter
could be counties or, more often, abbeys, commonly in the form of lay abbacies.
Receiving a donation from the king reinforced the bond between himself and the
receiving noble,'™ who then acted as a conduit of royal power, transmitting the
ruler’s will even to the frontiers of the realm. This does not mean that donations
created loyalty. Far more often, they are instead the sign of already existing ties.
For example, in border regions, small and unimportant abbeys were granted to in-
fluential nobles to install trusted men in potentially endangered zones, thus ensur-
ing royal control over these areas.'”® Hence, giving away honores served to create
and expand networks of power consisting of a larger number of individuals who
would lend their support to the king. These networks were the means to exercise
control over the realm and to transmit royal power even into regions that hardly
ever saw the king in person.'

But to reduce the relations between the king and the aristocracy to a mere
model of giving (making donations) and taking (withdrawing honores in the case
of infidelity) would mean to limit our view. Besides honores, influence, partaking
in the decision-making process, could draw the nobles to the king. In the ideal
court as described by Hincmar, the king was surrounded by close advisors with
whom he discussed the affairs of the realm before deciding on which measures
to take.!”” This circle only consisted of those closest to the king, those in the pos-
session of the most Konigsndhe.”® As Hincmar notes, these men close to the king
participated in the decision-making process and thus were able to influence its
outcome.'”” Therefore, being close to the king directly translated into political
power. As we have already noted, the nobles close to the king served as conduits,
transmitting the royal will into the regions of the realm. This also worked the other
way round, with locals coming to the respective noble asking him to bring their

102 MacLean, Kingship, 75; Becher, Gedanken.

103 On the importance of donations of the fisc, see Dhondt, Etudes and Ganshof, Note. On their as-
sumption of a dissolution of the fisc, see above. On the role of exchange in the relations between
the king and the nobles, see Le Jan, Histoire, 305-306.

104 On the role of honores in the investiture, see Depreux, Investitures, 172-175.

105 Nelson, Charles, 57; MacLean, Kingship, 90 and Helvétius, Abbatiat, 285-286 and 297-298. See
also the studies of Werner, Adelsfamilien; Rosenwein, Politics and Innes, State on the installation
of nobles in certain regions to transmit royal power.

106 Wickham and Reuter, Introduction, 1-16. On these networks, see also Althoff, Verwandte 134-181
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107 Hincmar, De ordine palatii, c. VI, 82-90, esp. 82-86. On the different types of assemblies and
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108 Nelson, Kingship, 403—-404.
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wishes to the king."” Thus, having access to the king meant to possess the ability to
grant this access also to others or, in other words, to exercise control over the ac-
cess to the king.™ Like participating in political decisions, this was a further guar-
antee of political power since, on the one hand, it allowed the noble in question to
influence the topics being discussed in the circle around the king and, on the other
hand, strengthened his position at home. Since only he could provide access to the
ruler, the petitioners needed to court his favour. Being close to the king and thus
managing the affairs of the realm, being able to influence the decisions made at
court and controlling the access to him was certainly an incentive for cooperating
with the king that was at least as strong as getting donations from him."*

These thoughts can be developed even further: Stuart Airlie has argued that
royal service not only served noble self-interest in honores and offices but also be-
came a constitutive factor of noble identity." Belonging to those around the king,
counselling him and serving him, meant being part of the most privileged elite, a
status that elevated them not only over their peers but also over their relatives—
those with whom they were in competition for social advancement and proximity
to the king. Their own and their family’s past actions served as sources of legiti-
macy and so did the prospect of future deeds done in service of the king, creating
a line of continuity stretching from the times past to the times to come. Social
status depended on how one was perceived by other nobles around oneself, and
for contemporaries the significance of one’s family depended first of all on its con-
nections with the royal household and its access to the court.™

However, this leads to another problem: who belonged to these other nobles?
Trying to find a convincing, all-encompassing definition for “aristocracy” proves
to be a fruitless undertaking. To be noble meant to belong to the leading mem-
bers of the society. In some cases this was undisputable but in others it was hard
to draw the line. “Nobility’ was a moral distinction, a moral distinction which
(as moral distinctions usually do) tended to reflect social status. To be ‘noble’ in
this sense was to exercise social power in the proper manner”* Thus, the aristoc-
racy consisted of individuals for whom belonging to this group depended on their
own behaviour and the acknowledgement of their status by other members of the
same group."® Access to this group was open while within it a hierarchy existed in
which advancement was possible."” When talking about the aristocracy, we there-

110 Hincmar, De ordine palatii, c. IV, 67.

111 On the access to the king, see Althoff, Verwandtschaft; Scior, Ohr; Garnier, Kultur, 24-28 and
Depreux, Hiérarchie.

112 See, for example, Rosenwein, Politics, 249 and Scior, Ohr.

113 Airlie, Semper fideles.

114 Airlie, Semper fideles, 133—134. See also Le Jan, Famille, 32—57 on noble identity and the recent
contribution of Bougard, Bithrer-Thierry and Le Jan, Elites.

115 Innes, State, 83. On the problem of “aristocracy,” see Innes, State, 82—85 and most of all Goetz,
Nobilis.

116 For a sociological definition of “group, see Tajfel and Turner, Identity.

117 On factors determining the position within the hierarchy, see Depreux, Uberlegungen, esp. 94-95.
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fore should avoid imagining one single block in opposition to the ruler, but rather
think of individuals and groups consisting of relatives and friends"® competing
with each other for social advancement."

Crucial for social advancement was the cooperation with the king. As Régine Le
Jan expresses it: “Le roi carolingien fut le pivot de la circulation des honneurs et
des richesses, contrélant la hiérarchie sociale par le systéme du don, imposant la
mobilité et la fidélidé en confisquant les honneurs pour cause d’infidélité”'** The
king was the pivot in the competition for influence over the affairs of the realm as
well as the source of noble identity. He could take advantage of his position within
this system by choosing his councillors and promoting them at his pleasure. Yet,
there were limits to his choices. Having reached a certain level within the hierar-
chy, the nobles not merely passively hoped for the king’s goodwill. From their own
self-conception they derived a right to be treated according to their position, to
take part in the affairs of the realm and to receive honores.'™ What is revealed here
is a complex system of sometimes diverging claims. On the one hand was the king,
exerting his right to choose whom to favour and further, on the other hand, was
the noble, deriving from his already elevated position the belief that he needed to
be chosen by the king. This system of relations between the king and the nobles
was an unstable one, one that needed constant care and one in which there was
often no ideal choice which could satisfy all parties involved, only one that would
limit the damage done within a bigger part of the network.

Our comments up to this point have been aimed at casting some light on the
functioning of royal power and the determining factors in the relations between
the king and the nobles. However, the political landscape of the late 9th century
underwent some important changes that need to be taken into consideration
when studying this period. Since the reign of Charles the Bald, within Western
Francia some nobles had created large conglomerates of honores that were to be-
come the future principalities.'”? The original perception of these developments by
Jan Dhondt,"” who promoted the idea of the “rise of the aristocracy” as a struggle
of two opposing powers—the Carolingian kings and “the aristocracy”—has since
been questioned and modified. For example, Karl Ferdinand Werner emphasised
royal consent in this development, describing the principalities as sub-kingdoms
led by nobles in vice royal positions who exercised powers delegated by the
kings.”* Furthermore, as Simon MacLean in his study on the reign of the Emperor

118 On such groups, see Althoff, Verwandte; Althoff, Amicitiae; Le Jan, Famille, 77-85 and Epp,
Amicitia.

119 Airlie, Semper fideles, 133.

120 Le Jan, Royaume, 91.

121 MacLean, Kingship, 15 and Althoff, Kontrolle, 302 and 329-330.

122 Examples for studies in this field are Werner, Enquétes; Sassier, Recherches; Bur, Formation; Robbie,
Emergence and McNair, Development. General assessments are provided by Dhondt, Etudes and
Dunbabin, France. For criticism on the concept of “principality;” see McNair, Development, 14-20.

123 Dhondt, Etudes.

124 Werner, Westfranken, 738-379.
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Charles IIT “the Fat” has explained: “Carolingian kings and emperors had always
been accustomed to dealing with powerful aristocratic individuals, and not with
the ‘aristocracy’ (or individual aristocratic families) as a monolithic entity* The
rise of powerful individual nobles was not something that was only typical of the
late Carolingian period. Kings already had had to cope with such individuals and
managed to integrate them into their rule. Therefore, we should not perceive this
period as a constant struggle between the “aristocracy” and the kings, but rather
as one in which their cooperation, their joint work towards a well-ordered world,
should be emphasised.'*

This is not to claim that the framework of late Carolingian politics was static.
Duke Boso, who in 879 convinced the local nobles at Mantaille to elect him king,
struck a first blow against the functioning of this system. Although married to
a Carolingian princess, he destroyed the illusion of a Carolingian monopoly on
kingship and made the office targetable for other ambitious nobles.”” In addition,
noble families became more and more autonomous from the royal centre as the
noble self-conception became increasingly detached from royal service and in-
stead depended on family traditions and property rights.”® They now developed
a dynastic identity and began to ascribe their power not to royal generosity but to
God’s will."” This effect became pronounced when in 888 kings came to power
in the former Carolingian regna whose kinship with the Carolingian family was
at best problematic. To name only two examples, in Eastern Francia, Arnulf of
Carinthia, an illegitimate son of Carloman of Bavaria, now assumed power while
in Western Francia, Odo, a Robertian without a single trace of Carolingian blood,
made his move for the throne. Carolingian legitimacy remained a strong argu-
ment in the political theatre™®, but from now on one could also become king by
possessing sufficient power to impose oneself on the other nobles.

These two developments, the rise of individual nobles amassing honores with
royal consent on the one hand and the loss of the Carolingian monopoly on the
throne on the other, may have commenced independently of each other, yet by the
end of the 9th century, they were inseparably linked. Boso had only been able to
claim a crown because he had already risen to a position from which he was able to
do so, yet he had chosen a moment in which the Carolingian monopoly still stood
unwavering. However, his rebellion was a first crack in the dam which broke nine
years later when dynastic coincidences had done away with all legitimate male
Carolingians north and south of the Alps, apart from a nine-year-old boy, Charles
the Simple. These developments, the weakening of Carolingian legitimacy and the
increasing power of some nobles in combination with their growing emancipation

125 MacLean, Kingship, 77-78.

126 West, Reframing, 100-102.

127 Airlie, Semper fideles. On Boso’s rebellion, see also chapter VI.4.
128 Airlie, Semper fideles, 139-140.

129 Le Jan, Royaume, 90.

130 Le Jan, Royaume, 88.
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from the crown, led to a shift in the relations between the king and the nobles
which started to unhinge the old system."™!

Analytical approach

While it is undeniable that such shifts took place, the basis of royal power did
not fundamentally change. Its basic principles remained intact and ensured the
cooperation of the nobles. The better they were integrated into the king’s rule,
the better the royal will was transmitted even into the most distant corners of the
realm. When it comes to determining royal influence, this understanding also has
a major impact on the value of the royal itinerary. It has been rightfully noted that
in the late 9th/early 10th century, West Frankish kings were limited in their travels
to the north-east of their realm,"* yet the conclusion that their sphere of action
was as limited is misleading. As long as the king was in contact with nobles from
the regions outside the radius of his movement, he could influence the local poli-
tics. Thus, analysing royal power means that an approach focused merely on direct
royal actions is too limited. Defending the realm, dealing with conflicts and ensur-
ing the royal prerogative certainly can be used as benchmarks for the possibilities
of royal power,” yet these actions are only the surface of the underlying network
of nobles centred around the ruler. An analysis of the possibilities and limits of
royal power has to take these two levels into consideration.

Networks can be understood as ensembles consisting of individuals (or groups)
who are linked with each other by social relations,** or in other words, are ex-
pressed by the sum of their interactions and connections.” While they do consti-
tute rather stable collectives,"¢ the individuals belonging to a network can compete
with each other.””” This means that networks are dynamic structures which develop
over time and which may become fragile up to the point of breaking even under
the occurrence of only minor pertubances.”® Therefore, when analysing networks
the focus has to be set on the nature of the relations between the different actors,™®

131 On this, see also Le Jan, Famille and the conference proceedings Bougard, Feller and Le Jan,
Elites; Depreux, Bougard and Le Jan, Elites as well as Falkowsky and Sassier, Monde.

132 Kienast, Wirkungsbereich.

133 See for example Le Jan, Elites and Royaume, using royal control over the distribution of honores,
or Althoff, Spielregeln, 21, who focuses on conflict situations to determine the ruler’s Hand-
lungsspielrdume. See also Auge, Handlungsspielraume, 8, according to whom each of a rulers
decisions, each measure enacted, whether made consciously or not and whether successful or
not, was subject to the judgement of the nobles, allowing us to use their consequences as a margin
to determine the possibilities and limits of royal power.

134 Rosé, Reconstitution, 207; Preiser-Kapeller, Calculating, 101-102.

135 Preiser-Kapeller, Calculating, 103; Dumézil, Culture, 556—557.

136 Dumézil, Culture, 556—557.

137 Hitzbleck and Hiibner, Netzwerkgrenzen, 8—-9; Hitzbleck, Verflochten, 21-24.

138 Preiser-Kapeller, Calculating, 102.

139 Stegbauer, Netzwerkanalyse.
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or in the case of this study, on those between a ruler and the nobles in contact with
him. Only by analysing these in regard to continuity, intentionality and quality
can the position of an individual within a network be determined."’ Based on this
analysis, within a network different zones, or layers, can be identified, as defined
by these relations:"' while frequent and intense contacts between a ruler and a
noble indicate the importance of this noble for the ruler and their central position
within the network, a single contact might not even be deemed sufficient to place
a noble within the network at all.

This leads to a key problem of network analysis for historians and especially
for those studying early medieval history. Even in best-case scenarios, the sources
available are so scarce that it becomes questionable whether the identification
of general structures and developments is possible at all.*> While the scarcity of
sources is especially true for the late Carolingian era, there is one type of source
that offers considerable advantages when it comes to analysing networks and de-
termining the relations between individuals: charters and specifically royal di-
plomas."* They not only allow us to establish relations between individuals (in
the case of the royal diplomas the ruler and the nobles petitioning and receiv-
ing these), but also offer insight into the quality, frequency and intensity of these
relations."* Therefore, these royal diplomas form the basis of those parts of this
study dealing with the networks of royal power while narrative sources are used
to complement and contextualise the information gained from the diplomas. This
approach also allows us to mitigate the problems caused by the gap in said narra-
tive sources between 900 and 919.

While this study is dedicated to exploring the possibilities of Charles the Sim-
ple’s royal power, his rule cannot be fully understood without going further back

140 Hitzbleck, Verflochten, 31-35. Similar also Preiser-Kapeller, Calculating, 103, who focuses on
the category, intensity, frequency and dynamics of interactions and relations. Rosé, Reconstitu-
tion, 207-208, emphasises the importance of the number of relations of an individual within a
network, the geographical proximity between two individuals in contact with each other and
whether an individual acts as an intermediary for others. We consider the last point as one of the
key factors for our own analysis.

141 Hitzbleck and Hiibner, Netzwerkgrenzen, 9, emphasising the implications of these for the limits
of a network.

142 Preiser-Kapeller, Calculating, 103; Hitzbleck and Hiibner, Netzwerkgrenzen, 8. Furthermore,
certain biases may also be caused by the nature of some kinds of sources. Letters, for example,
while providing unique insight into the relation between individuals, owe their existence to the
regional distance between composer and recipient. Using letters as the main basis for a network
analysis may therefore lead to a bias towards those relations over others, in which contact did not
depend on written exchange but was mainly oral. Hitzbleck, Verflochten, 31-32.

143 On the advantages of charters for network analysis and the methodology see Rosé, Reconstitu-
tion, 212-213. Rosé has demonstrated that the methods of digital data analysis can also be used
for research on early medieval history. On the drawbacks of digital data analysis of networks such
as the problem to portray the dynamics of relations, see for example Lemercier, Time. Consider-
ing these drawbacks as well as the fragementary nature of the sources at our disposition and our
need to contextualise each diploma and each appearance, we have refrained from using digital
data analysis for our own study.

144 On the interpretation of diplomas see chapter II, introductory remarks.
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to the 870s, to the times of his father, Louis II the Stammerer, his brothers Louis III
and Carloman II, to the Emperor Charles III the Fat and finally to the Robertian
Odo. It was during their reigns that the frameworks determining at least the early
years of Charles the Simple’s own developed. Taking the study back to the years
following the death of Charles II the Bald allows us to make comparisons between
Charles the Simple’s reign and those of his predecessors and to reveal the conti-
nuities and changes without having to revert to the questions of “structures” often
used in research on the 9th and 10th centuries. It allows us to analyse the rea-
sons for Charles’ very late succession to his father and the basis of his kingship
(chapter I), to reveal the networks of royal power and the ruptures they underwent
before and during Charles’ reign (chapters IT and III) and to use the results gained
from these to assess the rulers’ actions towards their neighbours, the Northmen,
and their own nobles (chapters IV, V and VI)."* Each chapter of this study adds
another layer to the analysis of the relations between rulers and nobles and thus to
the possibilities and limits of royal power in the late Carolingian age."¢

145 On the importance of relations between different actors, for the context of their actions and the
analysis of their room for manoeuvre, see Preiser-Kapeller, Calculating, 105.

146 This approach means that we will return to the same events at numerous times over the course
of this study, leading to certain redundancies. Given the advantages of being able to assess each
event and each action from different perspectives and in different contexts, this is a price we
consider to be worth paying.






I. Becoming king: The questions of legitimacy and support

In hindsight, Charles III the Simple’s accession to the throne appears as a surprise.
Born posthumously as Louis II the Stammerer’s third son, he was passed over in
the royal succession no less than four times until finally, a rebellious noble fac-
tion chose him as king. Although the ensuing war was lost, he was nevertheless
confirmed as king and succeeded the victorious Odo shortly thereafter. This brief
account raises a number of questions which serve as a starting point to understand
Charles’ rule and the possibilities and limits of his royal power. Why was Charles
passed over in the royal succession so many times? Or, in other words, why did
the nobles rebelling against Odo chose Charles as their king when seemingly his
claim to the throne was weak enough to be ignored until that moment? This, in
turn, leads to the issue of the composition and structure of the network these no-
bles formed and to the question of their various motives. Essentially, this means
examining the basic conditions under which Charles became king: to evaluate the
nature of his legitimacy as well as its importance as an argument in the politics
of the West Frankish realm and to analyse the composition and cohesion of the
network of nobles elevating him to the throne.

1.1 Charles’ claim to the throne

When Archbishop Fulk wrote his letter to King Arnulf of the East Frankish realm
in 893, announcing Charles’ elevation to the throne and asking for the king’s sup-
port, he made some remarks concerning certain rumours that had apparently
reached Arnulf’s ears, according to which Charles was not Louis II the Stam-
merer’s son. Fulk, however, assured the king that these rumours were unfounded,
and that in fact the young Carolingian resembled his father in a way that made his
descent above suspicion.! From what we know from the sources, these rumours,
probably spread by Odo’s supporters to contest Charles’ claim to the throne,
were never spread again. It is nevertheless interesting to note the way they were
constructed. Undoubtedly referring to his posthumous birth, they denied Louis’
parentage and consequently Charles’ Carolingian blood, the basis of his claim.
This strategy certainly made sense, yet it is surprising that they did not attack the
youth’s legitimacy in any other way.

1 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 382: Denique, quod audierat ipsi Arnulfo dictum fuisse, quod hic Karolus
filius Ludowici non fuerit, asseverat neminem se posse credere fore, qui, eum si viderit et parentum
ipsius effigiem cognoverit, non recognoscat illum de regia processisse progenie; quedam quoque patris
sui Ludowici signa gestare, quibus agnoscatur filius ipsius fuisse.
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1.1.1 Louis the Stammerer’s two marriages

The problem of the legitimacy of Charles’ birth, or more precisely that of his fa-
ther’s two marriages, has long been the subject of scholarly discussion.? Louis the
Stammerer and his own father, Charles II the Bald, had had a difficult relationship.
Several times, the son had revolted against the father, been reconciled and then
revolted again.’ During one of these cases in 862, Louis, following the advice of
some of his supporters, had married Ansgarde, daughter of Count Harduin and
sister of Odo, count of Chateaudun, one of his close supporters.* Louis’ revolt was
subsequently put down, but the marriage with Ansgarde remained, soon to bear
fruit in the form of two sons, Louis III and Carloman II, as well as a daughter,
Hildegard. Some time later, Charles forced his son to abandon his wife and marry
Adelaide, daughter of one of Charles” own close supporters, the Burgundian mag-
nate and count of the palace, Adalard.” This count’s importance is also underlined
by his appearance in the capitulary of Quierzy from 877, in which Charles laid
down preparations for his journey to Italy: Adalard was among those appointed
to stay close to Louis during the emperor’s absence and was also in charge of the
royal court of justice.b

According to Karl Ferdinand Werner, Adalard, and consequently Adelaide,
came from an old family, going back to Bego, count of Paris, who had restored and
reformed the abbey Saint-Maur of Fossés and died on the 28th October 8167, and
his wife Alpais, daughter of Louis the Pious. In addition, Bego’s nephews, Count

2 Eckel, Charles, 1-2; Briihl, Hinkmariana II, 60-77; Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 221-240 and
Werner, Nachkommen, 438-441.

3 For details see Kasten, Konigsschne, 443-465.

4 Annales Bertiniani 862, 91. For the circumstances of the revolt see Nelson, Charles, 204 and
Kasten, Konigssohne, 446—449. For the family of Odo of Chateaudun see Levillain, Essai.

5 Regino, Chronicon 878, 114. On Adalard’s paternity of Adelaide see Werner, Nachkommen,
429-441. The date of the divorce of Louis and Ansgarde as well as his remarriage with Adelaide
remains debated. While Regino states that Charles forced the divorce and presented Louis with
his new wife-to-be, Hincmar’s Annales Bertiniani remain quiet on the subject, undoubtedly out of
political considerations (Offergeld, Reges pueri, 344 with n. 146). Briihl, Hinkmariana II, based on
an early 11th century source, proposed that these events in fact took place only after the death of
Charles the Bald in 877 and were forced upon Louis not by his father, but by an influential party
of nobles opposing him as part of their agreement to Louis’ succession. This theory has been
resolutely opposed by Werner, Nachkommen, 437—-441, followed by Hlawitschka, Lotharingien,
225-228, and Bautier, Recueil Louis II, Louis III et Carloman, XXVIII, n. 2. Briihl defended his
theory in another article (Miszellen, 355-370). Offergeld seems unconvinced by Briihl’s arguments,
yet does not deny the theory, due to it being “politically more plausible” and chronologically possible.
He proposes that the marriage might well have been forced on Louis by the nobles before the death
of Charles and without his knowledge or consent, comparable to the resistance of the nobility
against the emperor’s Italian policy (Offergeld, Reges pueri, 345-346).

6 MGH Capit. II, N° 281 c. 17, 359. Before, Adalard had already served as missus. Recueil Saint-
Benoit I, N° 24, 57.

7 Charles the Simple calls him genitricis nostrae proavus (DChS 108). On this count see also Depreux,
Prosopographie, 120-122 and Depreux, Dimension.
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Gerard of Vienne® and Adalard the Seneschal, uncle of Charles the Bald’s first
wife Ermentrude,” were influential under Charles the Bald. Bego’s son Leuthard
held the county of Paris and his second son Eberhard became well established
in northern Burgundy, while his daughter Susanna'® married a certain Wulfard,
who fathered yet another Wulfard, count of Angouléme, and finally Adalard, Ad-
elaide’s father.! Adelaide also had a brother, also named Wulfard, who became
abbot of Flavigny and was a member of the royal chancellery.” The family also
branched out into southern Lotharingia® and had relatives in Aquitaine." Louis’
marriage to Adelaide thus tied him to an important family with close links to his
father. It also ensured the continuing influence of the faction of nobles Adalard
belonged to, even after the death of Charles.

However, the circumstances of the two marriages gave rise to questions con-
cerning their validity and thereby also the legitimacy of the offspring produced
from each. Hincmar’s Annales Bertiniani refrain from even mentioning the sub-
ject. Neither the divorce nor Charles’ birth is mentioned and while the archbishop
refers to the queen, he does not use her name, thus giving the impression that
nothing had changed.” The archbishop did not entirely succeed in his endeavour
to hush up the affair, however. When treating Louis” meeting with Pope John VIII
at Troyes in 878, he reports how the pope crowned Louis as king (Charles the Bald
had died the year before), yet refused his explicit request to do the same for his
wife, still not mentioning her name." John’s own position on the matter is less
clear than it appears at first sight. While he refused to crown Adelaide, he nev-
ertheless stayed with Louis and his wife for several weeks. His refusal, therefore,
seems not to have been taken badly, and appears more to have been the result of
an unwillingness to take a clear position in the issue.

Louis himself, as the incident with John VIII shows, did his best to establish
Adelaide as queen. Yet, when considering his own succession, he did not disinherit

8 The Girart de Roussillon of the famous Chanson de Geste.

On this personage see Lot, Mélanges and Depreux, Prosopographie, 80—82.

10 In opposition to Werner, Nachkommen, 433, Hlawitschka, Anfinge, 166-168 with n. 64, argues
that Susanna was not the daughter of Alpais, but descended from an earlier (unknown) marriage
of Count Bego, thus avoiding the problem of Louis the Stammerer and Adelaide being cousins of
the 6th degree.

11 Werner, Nachkommen, Exkurs II, 429—-441. On the family see also Le Jan, Famille, 442, table N° 57
“La descendance de Gérard de Paris” adding Wulfgrim, Imo and Hildeburg to the children of
Wulfard and Susanna.

12 Bautier, Recueil Louis II, Louis III et Carloman, LXV-LXVIII.

13 Hlawitschka, Anfinge, 164-168.

14 Werner, Nachkommen, Exkurs II, 435-436.

15 This behaviour of the archbishop appears in stark contrast to his attacks on Lothar II concerning
the latter’s marriage. See Briihl, Hinkmariana II.

16 Annales Bertiniani 878, 227. On this Befestigungskroénung see Briihl, Hinkmariana II, 63 with n. 31.
Werner, Nachkommen, 440, followed by Offergeld, Reges pueri, 344, argued that this refusal to
crown Adelaide was due to the uncanonical character of the marriage, Louis and Adelaide being
related in the 6th degree. Le Jan, Famille, 320 in contrast points out that marriage of this type was
widely tolerated and practiced.

o
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his sons by Ansgarde. In the treaty of Fouron, made with Louis the Younger, king
of Eastern Francia, and negotiated with the consent of the magnates, he considered
them equal to any male children he might have in the future.” His sons’ personal
importance to him can also be deduced from a letter to Archbishop Hincmar in
which the king asked for the cleric’s aid for them.” Furthermore, their political
relevance is underlined by the fact that the king used Carloman to strengthen
his ties to the powerful Boso by means of a marriage alliance. However, on his
deathbed, Louis suddenly changed his plans for the succession and appointed his
oldest son Louis III as his sole heir."” This gave rise to a complicated situation,
and thereby provided ample opportunity for those looking to gain an advantage
to impose their own view of things. The legitimacy of Louis and Carloman was
questionable to those who considered Louis the Stammerer’s marriage with Ad-
elaide valid. On the other hand, if this second marriage were uncanonical, the
same doubts would be cast on any male offspring from that union.?

Indeed the legitimacy of the boys was soon openly questioned. Not even a
year later, in October 879, Boso of Vienne proclaimed himself king,? arguing, as
Regino reports, that the throne was vacant due to the absence of legitimate heirs
to King Louis,” thus claiming that neither of Louis’ marriages had been valid.
However, an inspection of the circumstances of this new claim reveals the purely
opportunistic character of this reasoning. With Louis dead, yet without any drop
of Carolingian blood himself, Boso needed an argument explaining why he him-
self could now claim the throne. He constructed a claim by simply casting away
that of Louis’ sons, to one of whom, Carloman, he had engaged his daughter only
a year earlier at Troyes.”

17 MGH Capit. II, N° 246 c. 3, 169: Si autem vos mihi superstes fueritis, filios meos Hludowicum et
Karlomannum et alios, quos divina pietas mihi donare voluerit, ut regnum paternum quiete tenere
possint, similiter et consilio et auxilio, prout melius potueritis, ut adiuvetis rogo.

18 Flodoard, HRE III, c. 19, 261.

19 Annales Bertiniani 879, 234-235. Kasten, Konigssohne, 483, on the other hand, interprets the
treaty of Fouron not as a decision to divide the realm among Louis’ sons, but only as an “Eventu-
alklausel” securing the rights of all the sons to follow their father in case of the death of the eldest.
Accordingly, Louis would not have changed his succession plans at the last moment, but simply
followed the tradition of the ordinatio imperii and the preferential treatment of the eldest son. She
states that Louis, remembering his own succession problems, thought that his son Louis would be
more likely to follow him if he were to be the only candidate. The treaty of Fouron, however, does
not differentiate between the sons; they are all equally to hold their father’s realm after his death
and there is no mention of any preferred succession of the eldest, Louis. See also Offergeld, Reges
pueri, 351, n. 164.

20 As has been argued by Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 235, for Charles the Simple. Undoubtedly, this
problematic situation also shaped Charles’ own youth, with would serve to explain his distinctive
consciousness for legitimacy, brilliantly analysed by Koziol, Canons, 173-178.

21 On him and these events, see chapter VI.4.

22 Regino, Chronicon 879, 144. In Boso’s electio Louis’ sons are being passed over, Boso arguing that no
suitable person (except for himself) could be found to succeed Louis. MGH Capit. II, N° 284 C, 368.

23 Annales Bertiniani 878, 229. See also Werner, Gauzlin, 425.
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1.1.2 The question of Louis’ succession

As we can see, due to the questionable status of Louis the Stammerer’s marriages,
Charles’ legitimacy certainly offered possibilities to attack his claim. Nevertheless
in 893, and in contrast to Boso fourteen years earlier, Odo’s supporters chose not
to exploit this issue but to question the paternity of Louis. So did the question-
able legitimacy of Louis the Stammerer’s sons carry any political relevance at all?
It has been argued that, due to the questions over the validity of both of Louis
the Stammerer’s marriages, the decision to crown the sons from his marriage
with Ansgarde invalidated any rights Adelaide’s offspring might have had, thus
explaining why Charles was passed over in the royal succession at least after the
death of his brothers.* An analysis of the royal successions between 879 and 898
will help to cast some light on this question.

It is possible Charles was even passed over in 879, before his birth. After Louis
the Stammerer’s death in April, the leading nobles around Hugh the Abbot did
not follow his last wishes and crown his eldest son Louis, but called in an assem-
bly at Meaux to discuss future proceedings.” Yet before Hugh and his allies were
able to put any plan into action, a rival group around the former archchancellor
Gauzlin had already assembled bishops, abbots and other important noblemen at
Creil, inviting Louis the Younger, the partner of the treaty of Fouron, to come to
the kingdom.” According to Hincmar, Gauzlin acted out of a thirst for revenge
and ambition; yet his real motive appears to have been his rivalry with Hugh the
Abbot.” While the latter has been made out as the driving force behind Louis the
Stammerer’s decision that only his eldest son should succeed him, Gauzlin appears
to have favoured a partition of the realm between both Louis and Carloman.?

Faced with Louis the Younger invading the realm, in May, Hugh’s faction sent
envoys to the king at Verdun. In the subsequent treaty, Louis the Younger received
Lotharingia in return for his withdrawal from the realm and a guarantee that the
rest of the Western kingdom would remain with Louis the Stammerer’s sons.”
This agreement indicates that Hugh’s and Gauzlin’s factions had also come to
terms by this point. However, whether this meant a return to the original arrange-
ment of Fouron, securing the succession of all of Louis” sons and thus including
the possibility of rule for another prince from the pregnant Adelaide, or whether

24 Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 235-240, argues strongly in favour of this reading. The argument
has been revived by Schneidmiiller, Karl III., 25, although he does not add new points to the
discussion.

25 Annales Bertiniani 879, 235. The Annales Vedastini (879, 44) report that the group around Hugh
wanted both sons to succeed. Whether their account is correct remains an open question, for
events took another turn.

26 Annales Bertiniani 879, 235-236. We will discuss these factions in more detail in chapter I1.2. For
a thorough reconstruction of these events, see Werner, Gauzlin, 406-437.

27 Werner, Gauzlin, 422-428.

28 Werner, Gauzlin, 420—422.

29 Annales Bertiniani 879, 236-238; Annales Vedastini 879, 44.
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the succession was now restricted to the older sons of Ansgarde is not clear from
the sources. In any case, Hugh and his allies failed to put the terms of the agree-
ment into practice and Gauzlin again summoned Louis the Younger. The latter,
occupied with the succession to his brother Carloman of Bavaria, promised only
to return to the Western kingdom as soon as he could.”® At this point, and just
before Adelaide gave birth to Charles, Hugh and his allies sent for Archbishop
Ansegisus of Sens to anoint and crown Louis and Carloman.”

As Thilo Offergeld has rightly noted, Hugh’s faction could have delayed the
coronation for a few more weeks to wait for Adelaide’s delivery.” The threat posed
by a potential second intervention on the part of Louis the Younger was certainly
crucial in provoking Hugh to act, yet Offergeld is right to wonder whether Ad-
elaide’s imminent delivery might not also have contributed to Hugh’s decision.*
Unusually, Charles’ birth was noted by the sources, a fact that points towards its
political importance.** Moreover, the boy certainly had at least some support: his
closest relatives did try to further his rights. As Regino notes, he was named by his
mother after his grandfather, Charles the Bald.*® During the 9th century, a strong
tendency had developed to give possible heirs to the throne a name from a very
exclusive corpus: Pippin, Louis and Lothar, Carloman and Charles.** The choice
to name the boy Charles therefore was not random, but followed a political pro-
gram, emphasising the legitimate birth of the child and his right to the throne, fur-
ther strengthened through linking him to his ancestors Charlemagne and Charles
the Bald. After Adelaide, one should also consider her brother Wulfard, abbot of
Flavigny. Wulfard had risen under Louis the Stammerer, becoming first notary—
chancellor, then archchancellor, succeeding Gauzlin in early April 879.7 Yet, for
almost two years following the death of Louis, the office of archchancellor seems
to have remained vacant, and the first diploma of Carloman II was witnessed only
by the notary Norbert.* Only at the beginning of 881 does Wulfard appear again as
archchancellor,” at the moment when Carloman was staying near his abbey in the

30 Annales Bertiniani 879, 238. See also Werner, Gauzlin, 427-430 on the subject, dealing with the
difficulties of the biased and incomplete account given by Hincmar.

31 Annales Bertiniani 879, 238—239; Annales Vedastini 879, 45.

32 Offergeld refers to a number of later examples, after the death of Louis X in 1316 and of Charles IV
in 1328, when the question of succession was indeed delayed until the respective widows had given
birth. The case of Empress Agnes in 1057, when the Duchy of Bavaria remained vacant until her
pregnancy ended, is also similar. Offergeld, Reges pueri, 363, n. 204.

33 Offergeld, Reges pueri, 359-360.

34 Schieffer, Viter, 155.

35 Regino, Chronicon 878, 114.

36 On the subject of Carolingian names see Becher, Arnulf, 665-668.

37 DLS 31, 29th March or 10th April 879. See also Bautier, Recueil Louis II, Louis III et Carloman II,
LXVII-LXVIIL

38 DCmlII 49, 30th November 880.

39 DCmlI 50, 12th February 881. Wulfard appears to have regained his office between 30th November
880 (DCmII 49) and this date. See also Bautier, Recueil Louis II, Louis III et Carloman II, LXVIIIL.
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Nivernais between the first and second campaign against Duke Boso.*’ It there-
fore seems likely that the party around Adelaide, amongst them Wulfard, lost its
position at court with the death of Louis and subsequent assumption of power on
the part of Hugh the Abbot. Wulfard apparently only regained his office after the
revolt of Boso, when Hugh and Carloman needed the Nivernais as a base for their
campaign against him. He may have become part of the inner circle around the
king very quickly, as two intercessions in Carloman’s diplomas show." If Wulfard
indeed had lost his office due to his support for his nephew; it seems safe to deduce
that a part of the price for reassuming his old position at the court would have
been to renounce Charles’ claim.

Certainly, at the moment of Louis” and Carloman’s coronation, Charles’ claim
was a mere possibility. Yet, given the political tensions at that moment, it does not
seem unreasonable to assume that Hugh wanted to avoid the possibility of any
further complications by creating a fait accompli. The coronation of Ansgarde’s
sons, however, did not solve the problem of Gauzlin’s faction. Since both boys
remained with Hugh, the spirit of the agreement with the abbot and his allies—as
well as Louis the Younger—had been violated, for the realm had not been divided
between the brothers. Louis again invaded the realm and joined forces with those
of Gauzlin, forcing Hugh to confirm the treaty of Fouron. The partition of the
realm followed only a couple of months later, in March 880, at Ribemont. Louis,
under the tutelage of Gauzlin and his allies, would rule over Francia and Neustria;
Carloman, guided by Hugh and his party, Burgundy and Aquitaine.*> Charles, no
longer a hypothetical figure but an actual claimant, was not mentioned.

Did the questionable legitimacy of Louis the Stammerer’s sons play any role in
these events? As already noted, Boso was the only one to deny their claim to the
throne, at the moment he himself reached out for the crown. His was a general
attack, not differentiating between the sons of Ansgarde and Adelaide—indeed,
how could he if his aim was to create a situation in which he would not appear as
a usurper denying a legitimate heir his right to the throne? The behaviour of the
other leading nobles is more interesting. Did they cast aside Charles because they
considered him illegitimate in comparison to his brothers?** Louis the Stammerer
had done his best to strengthen Adelaide’s position at court while at the same time
also promoting his succession by his sons from Ansgarde.** The most important
document in this matter is the treaty of Fouron, securing the succession of sons
from both marriages. As the leading nobles of the realm had been included in this

40 Bautier, Recueil Louis II, Louis III et Carloman II, LXVIII.

41 DCmlI 61, 1st December 880—before 6th September 881, (together with Hugh the Abbot and
Count Wido) and DCmII 59, 29th August 881.

42 Annales Bertiniani 880, 241-242; Annales Vedastini 880, 47.

43 Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 235. According to him, once the nobles had opted for Louis and Carlo-
man and therefore acknowledged Louis the Stammerer’s marriage with Ansgarde as valid, they
would in turn have automatically considered Charles as illegitimate.

44 See above.
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decision, the treaty seems to reflect the official position of the court.* Of course,
this might have changed with Louis the Stammerer’s death. Eduard Hlawitschka
has argued that in fact Gauzlin and his allies leant towards Louis the Younger
because of their doubts concerning the legitimacy of Louis and Carloman, thus
denying their right to the throne. Hugh’s faction, on the other hand, focused on
the preservation of the independence of the Western realm.*® Yet, as Karl Ferdi-
nand Werner has argued, Gauzlin was most probably one of the driving forces
behind the treaty of Fouron and had supported Ansgarde earlier on,” with no
source mentioning such doubts being the motive for his turn to Louis the Younger.

It indeed seems that, for the most part, pragmatic reasons determined the
courses of action of the leading factions around Hugh and Gauzlin. Hugh had
opted for a single king, or, if necessary, for two, with both of them being under
his control. Gauzlin urged for a real partition of the realm that would leave one of
the boys in his care. Had Charles been born earlier, before or just after his father’s
death, he would undoubtedly have played a role in the political rivalry. Yet then,
in September 879, none of the factions was in need of another claimant, especially
since, given the high mortality rates among infants, supporting Adelaide’s new
baby might soon have left them without a candidate.*® The final solution to the
conflict, the treaty of Ribemont and the partition of Amiens, agreed in March
880, was the natural consequence of these early decisions: Given the political situ-
ation with two rival factions, there was also no need for a third candidate. It was
therefore a mere question of political expediency as to whose claims were to be
recognised or be disposed of.* Charles, in any case only a baby, simply did not fit
into the plans of the policymakers and thus was passed over in the succession for
the first time.”

1.1.3 Passing over Charles

Opver the course of the next ten years, three more occasions arose in which Charles
could have become king and yet was passed over in the succession. On 5th August
882, his older half-brother Louis III died, yet the Frankish nobles turned towards
Ansgarde’s younger son, Carloman II.*' Two years later, after the latter had also
passed away, their choice fell on Emperor Charles III the Fat, son of Louis the

45 MGH Capit. II, N° 246, 169. See Werner, Gauzlin, 423.

46 Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 221-240. Earlier also Sickel, Thronfolgerecht, 129-130 and Boehm,
Rechtsformen, 328. Parisot, Royaume, 433-434 and Diimmler, Geschichte III, 116 considered
legitimistic reasons as a plausible assumption.

47 Flodoard, HRE III, c. 19, 261. See also Werner, Gauzlin, 421-422 and 423—-424 with n. 96.

48 See also Offergeld, Reges pueri, 364—-365. In addition, an infant king would have been an unprec-
edented situation.

49 Werner, Gauzlin, 426.

50 See also Offergeld, Reges pueri, 365.

51 Annales Vedastini 882, 52.
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German and by then ruler of the East Frankish kingdom, Lotharingia and Italy.
Another four years later, after the death of the emperor, Charles was the last sur-
viving male Carolingian, yet Odo, a powerful noble from the Robertian family,
seized power. The transition to the Robertion family did not go unchallenged. A
group of nobles from Francia first invited Wido of Spoleto to take the crown, but
then turned to Arnulf of Carinthia before the former had even crossed the Alps.
In none of these cases is Charles mentioned as a possible candidate by the sources.

Why did the nobles chose to ignore Charles and to opt for other candidates
instead? Archbishop Fulk in 893 argued in a letter to Arnulf that he had not sup-
ported the young Carolingian in 888 because of his youthful age, which made him
unfit to rule, especially in the face of the threat posed by the Northmen.*? This
argument was persued in older research®—yet as the examples of Louis the Blind
in Provence and Louis the Child in the Eastern kingdom show, boys of Charles’
age could be crowned kings if the nobility agreed on them.** Eduard Hlawitschka,
on the other hand, argued that Adelaide’s son Charles lacked legitimacy once the
nobles had declared his brothers as kings. According to him, only one of Louis the
Stammerer’s marriages could be valid, and the nobility had decided that it would
be the one to Ansgarde, thereby making Charles an illegitimate child.”® However,
as discussed, no sources indicate that the nobility had ever seriously questioned
Charles’ legitimacy. It might have been used as an argument against him, yet was
certainly not the main issue which prevented him from being chosen as king.*®
Rivalries between the Rorgonid group close to the emperor and Adelaide’s family
have been made out as the reason behind the call to Charles the Fat in 884,” but
again, no sources indicate that this was the case. Concerning this succession, it has
recently also been claimed that the magnates preferred a weak and mostly absent
ruler, allowing them to follow their own interests.”® Yet, as Simon MacLean’s study
of the emperor has shown, Charles the Fat’s policies towards the nobility in no
way differed from those of his predecessors® and this argument can be dismissed
accordingly.

The absence of Charles the Simple from the sources concerning the question of
the subsequent successions is striking and appears to indicate that he simply was

52 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 381: Quod, quando Karolus imperator decessit, et idem Arnulfus regimen
huius regni suscipere noluit, hic Karolus adhuc admodum corpore simul et scientia parvulus ex-
istebat nec regni gubernaculis idoneus erat et instante immanissima Nordmannorum persecutione
periculosum erat tunc eum eligere.

53 For example Diimmler, Geschichte III, 233; Eckel, Charles, 3 and Favre, Eudes, 78.

54 Offergeld, Reges pueri, 405.

55 Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 235-236.

56 On the question of how to deal with illegitimate children, see Kasten, Chancen.

57 Werner, Nachkommen, 441 and Werner, Gauzlin, 455—458.

58 Offergeld, Reges pueri, 407. This reading appears to be influenced by older research following
Dhondt, Etudes, seeing the nobility as opposed to any rule other than their own (See MacLean,
Kingship, 13, on that question).

59 MacLean, Kingship, 77-79.



30 I. Becoming king: The questions of legitimacy and support

not seriously considered as a potential ruler. In 882, as well as in 884, the realm had
been under the immediate threat of Viking attacks, and the sources reflect a con-
sistent unity amongst the nobility when they decided to ask first for Carloman and
two years later for Charles the Fat. Louis III had won a battle against the Northmen
at Saucourt in 881 that had forced that group of Vikings into Lotharingia® and had
concluded a treaty with Hasting and the Northmen along the Loire in 882. Just
before his death, he appears to have prepared a campaign against the group now
devastating the neighbouring regnum; and the nobles now invited Carloman to
take over the realm and the army as fast as he could.®” Their haste demonstrates
that, despite Louis’ last measures, the realm was far from secure: Hasting and his
group returned to haunt the coast® while the other group also returned and took
position in the Condé from where they then devastated the countryside.** Consid-
ering the previous rivalry between the groupings around Hugh and Gauzlin, the
decision to unite the realm under Carloman after his brother’s death may seem
surprising, all the more so as Gauzlin appears to have played an important part in
it.® Hugh’s influence at court, despite his rival’s return, remained untouched, at
least for the time being. Gauzlin stood back for a moment, yet soon resumed his
office as archchancellor and became bishop of Paris.*® Facing the Viking threat, the
two factions had seemingly found an agreement acceptable to both sides. Carlo-
man would rule the entire kingdom, led by both groups in concert.

The situation two years later was not much different. Carloman, following
fruitless efforts to defeat the Northmen, had finally concluded a treaty with them,
paying a huge tribute for them to leave the realm. Yet, according to Regino of
Priim, when he suddenly died, the Vikings returned, claiming that the agreement
had lost its validity with the king’s demise. Faced with the option of either pay-
ing them again or fighting them, the magnates chose to send for the emperor,
Charles IIT the Fat.” Once again, the sources emphasise the unity with which the
decision to invite the emperor to the crown was taken.®® As before, we find that

60 Annales Vedastini 881, 50—51. The victory is also mirrored by the famous Ludwigslied.

61 Annales Vedastini 882, 52.

62 Annales Bertiniani 882, 246: Primores autem regni expeditum nuntium miserunt ad Karlomannum,
mandantes ut, relictis qui Viennam obsiderent et seditioni Bosonis resisterent, ipse quantotius ad eos
uenire festinaret, quoniam hostiliter ipsi praeparati erant in occursum Nortmannorum, qui ciuitates
Coloniam et Treueris cum monasteriis sibi contiguis iam incensas haberent...

63 Annales Bertiniani 882, 247.

64 Annales Vedastini 882, 52.

65 See his role in the reading of Carloman’s oath to the realm. MGH Capit. II, N° 285, 370 (legente
Gauzeleno) and Werner, Gauzlin, 452—453.

66 Werner, Gauzlin, 453—454. Offergeld, Reges pueri, 373, speaks of a “schnelle und reibungslose
Herrschaftsiibernahme Karlmanns im Nordreich,” while at the same time admitting the loss
of power by Gauzlin’s party. While it seems correct that Carloman’s accession to his brother’s
throne went smoothly and quickly, the integration of the North into his realm posed some severe
problems. See chapter II.2.

67 Regino, Chronicon 884, 121-122.

68 Regino, Chronicon 884, 122: Territi huiuscemodi mandatis optimates regni ad Carolum impera-
torem missos dirigunt eumque ultro in regnum invitant. See also Annales Vedastini 884, 56: Franci
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Hugh and Gauzlin played key parts in the process, with other important magnates
from the Paris region and Neustria acting alongside them.® The former factions
now being at peace with each other, only one candidate was needed, and Emperor
Charles appeared as a logical choice considering the Viking threat.

Charles the Fat had already been in contact with the West Frankish magnates in
the summer of 879, when Archbishop Hincmar of Reims had asked him to adopt
one of Louis the Stammerer’s sons and to take care of the boys and the affairs of
the realm, a matter in which Hugh was also involved.”” Hincmar’s letter was fol-
lowed by a meeting in October between Louis, his brother Carloman and Charles
at Orbe. However, the question of whether one of the boys really was adopted by
Charles remains open.” The archbishop sent another letter to Charles, probably
at the end of 879 or the beginning of 880, making the same request and asking
him to provide tutors for the adolescents.” Whether Hincmar’s successor, Fulk,
pursued these plans any further is not known, but he was also in contact with
the emperor as early as June 884.” Charles thus had connections with the highest
ranks of the West Frankish nobility long before Carloman’s untimely death.

The emperor became quickly and widely accepted in the Western realm. As
the diplomas he issued during his two visits to the West show, he possessed a
wide-ranging network of support.” This unity he inspired amongst the leading
magnates of the realm, especially in view of the past rivalries between the differ-
ent factions, was without a doubt the biggest point in his favour. If Charles the
Simple, still a mere five years old, had been made king, a divided nobility fighting
for control over the child and therefore a regency might reasonably have been ex-
pected. Charles the Fat, on the other hand, had proven his capability to integrate

capiunt consilium et Theodericum comitem Italiae dirigunt ad imperatorem Karolum, uti veniat in
Franciam. In contrast to Regino, the annals do not make a direct connection between the Viking
threat and the decision for Charles the Fat.

69 MacLean, Kingship, 102-115. He also argues against Werner’s reading that Hugh’s influence mas-
sively declined towards the end of Carloman’s reign and that his role under Charles the Fat became
marginal. MacLean, Kingship, 104-105 and Werner, Gauzlin, 455.

70 Flodoard, HRE III, c. 24, 327. On the political background of the letter see Schneider, Erzbischof,
35.

71 Annales Bertiniani 879, 240. That Carloman is described as adopticii filii nostri in one of Charles’
later diplomas (DChF 145) seems to support such an outcome. It is noteworthy however that this
is the only reference to Carloman under this expression out of his mere three mentions in Charles
the Fat’s diplomas (DDChF 122, 145 and 149, with only DChF 145 being clearly composed by the
chancellery). Moreover, that Charles did not mention this fact at the assembly at Ponthion in 885
during his first visit to the Western kingdom, but instead waited until October 886 after the siege
of Paris was ended, arouses suspicion about the value of the diploma as proof for the adoption. It
seems to me that Charles, under these special circumstances, tried to construct a special connec-
tion to the Western kingdom.

72 Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 234, n. 34.

73 Migne, PL 125, cols. 989-994. On Hincmar’s idea behind the adoption see Kasten, Kénigssohne,
487-488 and Schneider, Suche, 415-419. Kasten seems to overestimate Hincmar’s influence during
this time, however.

74 DChF 106, Metz, 30th June 884.

75 MacLean, Kingship, 100-101.
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the other parts of the Carolingian empire under one ruler and it could be expected
that he would also succeed in doing so in West Francia.” The equilibrium among
the magnates was new and potentially fragile and, in the face of the Viking threat,
no-one seems to have been ready to risk a new civil conflict. Finally, this unity also
points to another issue: the emperor seems to have had a claim to the West Frank-
ish throne strong enough to go uncontested. His succession to the throne appears
to have come so naturally that Archbishop Fulk of Reims, when explaining to the
emperor Arnulf in 893 the reasons why he had not previously supported Charles
the Simple’s claim to the throne, referred only to the situation after the emperor’s
death, not to that after Carloman’s.”

1.1.4 A Robertian onthe throne

Three times had Charles been passed over in the succession so far and three times
political reasons appear to have been predominant. In 879/880, the factions had
already settled on their positions before Charles had been born and therefore had
no need for him. In 882 and 884, the Viking threat created an atmosphere that
enforced political unity amongst the leading nobles. The sudden deaths of Louis III
and Carloman IT were thus followed by quick decisions concerning the succession
question, and in each case the candidate behind whom the nobles could rally the
most easily appears to have been chosen. This in turn implies that Charles lacked
sufficient support. By way of explanation, his youth and the problem of the legiti-
macy of his birth have been brought forward. Both may have played a role, yet
other examples demonstrate that they were certainly not a hindrance.

This was even more the case in 888 after the death of Charles the Fat. As Regino
of Priim famously noted: “After his death the kingdoms which had obeyed his
authority, just as though a legitimate heir were lacking, dissolved into separate
parts and, no longer waiting for a natural lord, each decided to create a king from
its own guts””® The death of the emperor had created a vacuum which was now
used by a number of powerful nobles to seize the crown: Arnulf of Carinthia, ille-
gitimate son of Carloman of Bavaria, in the East Frankish realm; Berengar, son of
Eberhard of Friuli in Italy; and Odo, son of Robert the Strong in the West Frankish
kingdom, to name but three. Over the preceding years a “crisis of authority”” had

76 MacLean, Kingship, 120—122. See also the positive accounts of Charles the Fat by Regino, Chronicon
888, 128-129, and Abbo, Bella I, 18, v. 48—52 and II, 98, v. 442—443. On Abbo’s view of Charles see
MacLean, Kingship, 55-62.

77 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5 380-383: De hoc etiam, quod idem rex in culpa trahebat, quare non id ante
fecissent, reddit rationem, quod, quando Karolus imperator decessit, et idem Arnulfus regimen huius
regni suscipere noluit...

78 Regino, Chronicon 888, 129: Post cuius mortem regna, que eius ditioni paruerant, veluti legitimo
destituta herede, in partes a sua compage resolvuntur et iam non naturalem dominum prestolantur,
sed unumquodque de suis visceribus regem sibi creari disponit.

79 Airlie, Nearly Men, 26.
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developed, a legitimacy deficit of the Carolingian dynasty resulting from the con-
tinuous threat generated by Vikings, Hungarians and Saracens as well as the quick
series of successions since the deaths of Charles the Bald and Louis the German.
When Boso had initiated his own coronation in 879, four Carolingian rulers had
allied themselves to crush this attempt.® Their alliance demonstrates how serious
they considered the threat to be.* Boso’s case had unlocked the door for all those
who wanted to challenge the Carolingian monopoly on kingship, and the death of
Charles the Fat, which left his realms without an heir,* pushed it wide open.

One of the new kings, and in our case the most interesting one since he claimed
the West Frankish throne for himself, was Odo, son of Robert the Strong,* who
had risen from count of Paris to marchio of Neustria under Charles the Fat. Odo
had proven himself a more than capable military leader during the siege of Paris
in 886 and, due to his family ties and his proximity to Charles, he had acquired the
inheritances not only of Gauzlin,* but also of Hugh the Abbot after their deaths.
As such, Odo united the military command over Neustria with the counties Tours,
Angers and Blois, as well as the abbeys of Saint-Martin of Tours and Marmoutiers,
with the county of Paris and the abbey of Saint-Denis.* In his person, therefore,
the Western kingdom now had a magnate powerful enough to dominate the other
nobles and be able to legitimise himself through military victory.

80 Annales Vedastini 880, 47.

81 Airlie, Nearly Men, 26.

82 Airlie, Semper fideles, 139-140. On the efforts of the emperor to avoid this situation, see MacLean,
Kingship, 129-198.

83 Robert the Strong, one of the leading magnates under Charles the Bald, at the time of his death
holder of a march in Neustria. On him see Kalckstein, Robert; Werner, Robertiens and Baccou,
Débuts.

84 Gauzlin and Odo may have been related via Odo’s wife Theodrada. Werner, Gauzlin, 213.

85 On the rise of Odo see Werner, Gauzlin, 461-462; Guillot, Etapes, 200—207 and MacLean, King-
ship, 50-55 and 64-66. Guillot argues that Odo had usurped royal prerogatives even before the
deposition of Charles the Fat, based on a letter collection dating to 887 and the Gesta Pontificium
Autissiodorensium. MacLean argues against Guillot’s view and, using charter evidence, emphasises
Odo’s proximity to the emperor. Odo’s taking over of the Neustrian command is mentioned by
Regino, Chronicon 887, 126—127. The counties Tours, Angers and Blois seem to be indicated by the
reference made by the Annales Vedastini (886, 62) telling us that he was given his father’s honores
(Robert the Strong had been count of Tours and Angers (Dhondt, Etudes, 93—-94. See also Werner,
Robertiens, 21, who adds the counties of Blois and Chateaudun to the list. It was also proposed
that Robert held Marmoutiers as a lay abbot, based on his identification with the illustris viri Rot-
berti in DChB 147. On this subject, however, see Baccou, Débuts, who argues that this was in fact
another Robert.) Viscounts of all three counties appear in one of Odo’s private charters, the same
which also names him as abbot of Saint-Martin of Tours (Recueil Eudes, N° 55. See Favre, Eudes,
7274, for the identifications of the witnesses). For his abbacy over Marmoutiers, see Favre, Eudes,
77, n. 1, referring to Marténe, Histoire Marmoutier II,1 [ms], 26 (= BNF lat. 12867-12880). Odo
is named count of Paris in a charter for the church Notre-Dame of Paris (Cartulaire Notre-Dame
de Paris I, 298—299, N° XVI). He had probably become count of Paris in succession to Conrad by
the end of 882 or the beginning of 883. Favre, Eudes, 15. For Saint-Denis, see Werner, Gauzlin, 461
with n. 220 and Gallia Christiana IX, cols. 448—449 for Morienval, where Robert succeeded count
Theoderic of Vermandois as abbot. Saint-Amand seems to have been passed on directly to Robert
(Series Abbatum S. Amandi Elnonensis, 386).
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However, this same situation also offered new opportunities for Charles the
Simple. If the problem of his mother’s marriage to Louis the Stammerer had thus
far been an issue for the nobility, now, in the face of the lack of other Carolingi-
ans, his claim by blood was stronger than that of any others, and his position thus
changed dramatically. It is therefore hardly coincidental that Charles reappears in
the sources at this very moment. Once Odo had consolidated his rule in the North
and overcome the initial opposition, he moved to Aquitaine, where he met with
Ramnulf IT of Poitiers.*® The latter also brought Charles to the meeting and swore
an oath not only for himself, but also for the Carolingian, “lest anything evil be
suspected of him”® Ramnulf himself might have attempted to take the crown for
himself, although this is only reported by the Annales Fuldenses.® It is clear, how-
ever, that Odo considered Charles a threat, and this threat could only stem from
Charles’ Carolingian blood.

This is also emphasised by other sources. “And when at the day mentioned
above they gathered at Reims, they placed him on his father’s throne, consecrat-
ing him king”® the Annales Vedastini report for the year 893 when the rebellious
faction around Archbishop Fulk finally crowned Charles. This reference to his
Carolingian descent undoubtedly reflects the official standpoint of the group: it is
the same argument used by Archbishop Fulk in his letter to Arnulf from the same
year, in which he named Charles the last descendant of the royal family, whose
predecessors and brothers had been kings.” Fulk’s argument however should not
be taken out of context. The archbishop was defending himself against the accusa-
tion of unjust rebellion. Charles’ claim served to justify his own actions while he
presented Odo as “a stranger to the royal family [who] had tyrannically abused the

86 The claim that Charles’ mother Adelaide had married Ramnulf (e.g. Ewig, Kaiser, 580) has been
successfully refuted by Werner, Nachkommen, 455, n. 17. Adelaide’s father’s relatives in Aquitaine
(see above) may be an explanation for his stay there. Werner, Nachkommen, 436, further adduces
Ramnulf’s opposition to Odo as a reason, but this appears to be an argument based on the as-
sumption that Charles only went to Ramnulf after Odo’s coronation. Since there is no evidence
of Charles’ whereabouts before this mention in the sources, this remains mere speculation. Fulk’s
tutorship of Charles as mentioned by Richer, Historiae I, c. 16, 53 is not contemporary and appears
to be an interpretation made in hindsight, a projection of the situation after 893 to the period of
Charles’ boyhood.

87 Annales Vedastini 889, 67: Post nativitatem vero Domini cum paucis Francis Aquitaniam perrexit,
ut sibi eos sociaret. Quo audito Ramnulfus dux maximae partis Aquitaniae cum sibi faventibus venit
ad eum, adducens secum Karolum puerum, filium Hludowici regis, et iuravit illi quae digna fuerunt,
simul et de ipso puerulo, ne quid mali de eo suspicaretur.

88 Annales Fuldenses (Ratisbon continuation) 888, 116. Briihl, Deutschland, 374, believes this
account. Favre, Eudes, 122, n. 1 and Werner, Westfranken, 229, are doubtful. The account has been
rejected by Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 86 and Kienast, Herzogstitel, 175. We hesitate to dismiss the
account completely, even though it seems odd that an East Frankish source should be the only one
to know about Ramnulf’s ambition to become king.

89 Annales Vedastini 893, 73: Et die supra dicti Remis adunati eum in paterno solio benedictum in
regem collocant.

90 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 381: ...quem solum post ipsum de regia ipsius habebant progenie et cuius
predecessores ac fratres extiterant reges. And again 382: ...vel in hunc regie prosapie Karolum... and
...propterque rectum congruumaque regii generis principatum. ..
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royal power.”” The argument of Charles’ legitimacy was therefore not only used to
emphasise his claim, but also to deny Odo’s right to rule.

This last point mattered more to Fulk than enforcing the rights of the Caro-
lingian youth. The opportunistic nature of his argument becomes clear from the
archbishop’s behaviour in 888. After the death of the emperor, a group based in
Francia and Burgundy, centred on Archbishop Fulk,’ invited Fulk’s relative, Wido
of Spoleto® to the realm, only to abandon him even before he arrived.”* Wido was
still crowned as the choice of a number of Burgundian nobles by Bishop Geilo
of Langres, but returned to Italy on the news of Odo’s coronation.” Odo, for his
part, seems to have been able to bring the resisting nobles from Francia over to
his side using promises and threats;*® however, he failed to quickly integrate them
under his rule. Soon after, Fulk, together with Count Baldwin II of Flanders and
the latter’s cousin, Abbot Rodulf”, turned towards Arnulf, king of the East Frank-
ish kingdom, and invited him to the Western realm.”® Negotiations were still in
progress when Odo won a decisive victory against the Vikings at Montfaucon.”
On hearing this, Arnulf refused Fulk’s offer “without council or conciliation”*
Instead he opted for the victor of Montfau¢on and not only invited him to a meet-
ing, but also sent him a crown soon after. Fulk’s party immediately disintegrated,

91 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 381: Odonis [...] qui ab stirpe regia existens alienus, regali tirannice abusu
fuerit potestate...

92 'The Annales Vedastini (888, 64) clearly identify Archbishop Fulk of Reims as the leader of this
group. Referring to the coronation of Wido, they state that a few Burgundian nobles chose him as
king. Since some relatives of Wido lived near Langres, it can be assumed that the annals refer to
them, not only in this context, but also later, when they report that, on his return to Italy, Wido
was accompanied by those who decided to follow him. See also Hlawitschka, Die Widonen, 24
with n. 12. Whether Fulk’s later allies Count Baldwin II of Flanders and his cousin Abbot Rodulf
already formed part of the group at this point must remain open.

93 Fulk and Wido were related by blood: Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 3, 376. Fulk assured the pope quod
non illum tantum diligeret pro consanguinitatis necessitudine, qua illi devinctus habebatur, verum
multo magis, quia huius pape venerator et amator existeret. See also Schneider, Erzbischof, 7-21
and Hlawitschka, Kaiser, 193 with n. 31. How they were actually related cannot be established.

94 On the decision to abandon Wido, see Schneider, Erzbischof, 45.

95 Annales Vedastini 888, 65.

96 Annales Vedastini 888, 65. The way the annals describe the situation leaves no doubt that Fulk
and his allies were amongst those who now submitted to Odo’s rule: Odo vero rex Francos, qui
suo nolebant se subdi dominationi, partim blanditiis, partim terroribus sibi sociari festinabat.

97 On their parentage see Favre, Famille, 160.

98 Annales Vedastini 888, 65. Fulk was also accompanied by the bishops Dodilo of Cambrai,
Honoratus of Beauvais and Heitilo of Noyon, as well as Archbishop John of Rouen (chased out
of his bishopric by the Vikings). They all figure in a charter of Archbishop Liutpert of Mainz for
Abbot Bovo of Corvey issued probably during the council of Mainz in June 888 (MGH Conc. V,
N° 26, 267).

99 Schneider, Erzbischof, 49-50, has argued convincingly that the negotiations started at Worms
and continued during the assembly of Frankfurt. Odo’s victory occurred on the 24th June. Ar-
nulf stayed at Frankfurt until at least 3rd July (DA 34), so that the news of the battle would have
reached him there before he made his final decision.

100 Flodoard, HRE1V, c. 5, 380—-381: Commemorans, quod decedente Karolo imperatore, huius Arnulfi
avunculo, in ipsius Arnulfi servitium fuerit profectus, cupiens eius suscipere dominium et guberna-
tionem, sed ipse rex eum sine ullo consilio vel consolatione dimiserit.
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leaving him no other option but to submit to Odo for a second time." The “pri-
macy of the royal blood” the archbishop used as an argument five years later'® thus
appears not to have played a role in the succession crisis of 888; Fulk first opted for
his own relative, Wido of Spoleto, and then turned to Arnulf of Carinthia.

Fulk, of course, was aware of this hole in his argument when he wrote his letter.
In his defence he claimed that in 888 Charles had been too young in body and
wisdom to govern the realm and that the Viking threat made it too dangerous to
choose him as king.'”® Yet Boso’s son Louis had succeeded his father in 887 at an
even younger age and so too would Arnulf’s own son Louis only a few years later.
While the Viking threat might be more credible, the question arises whether, given
his young age in 888 as well as in 893, it would have been Charles who commanded
the army and not his advisers around Fulk. His half-brother Carloman, for exam-
ple, remained dependent on the groups around Hugh the Abbot and Gauzlin even
after he had been given the arms of manhood"* and in the years following his own
coronation the sources emphasise the role of those “who were with Charles”* The
archbishop’s arguments are thus revealed as mere afterthoughts, excuses to Arnulf
for his own behaviour five years earlier.

This, however, does not answer the question why Fulk and his allies turned
to Wido of Spoleto and Arnulf instead of elevating Charles. The cause may have
been partly practical: Charles simply might not have been available, since he was
with Ramnulf IT of Poitiers." Yet other reasons probably carried more weight. In
contrast to 893, Fulk’s party seems to have been rather weak in 888. Apart from
the suffragan bishops of Reims, Fulk was supported by only Baldwin IT of Flanders
and Baldwin’s cousin Abbot Rodulf."” He still lacked the support a man as power-
ful as Count Heribert I could provide,'® as well as connections outside Francia.'®
Fulk’s party was therefore limited to candidates who could not only serve as rally-
ing points for other discontented magnates, but who also brought with them their

101 Annales Vedastini 888, 65—-66. Arnulf seems to have subsequently influenced Odo to accept Fulk
and the rest of his allies back into his fidelity. In Autumn Odo was crowned at Reims. Annales
Vedastini 888, 67.

102 Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 5, 382: ... propterque rectum congruumque regii generis principatum...

103 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 381: Et idem Arnulfus regimen huius regni suscipere noluit, hic Karolus
adhuc admodum corpore simul et scientia parvulus existebat nec regni gubernaculis idoneus erat et
instante immanissima Nordmannorum persecutione periculosum erat tunc eum eligere.

104 Offergeld, Reges pueri, 402—403.

105 For example Annales Vedastini 894, 74: Cumque hi qui cum Karolo erant viderent se non habere
unde ei resistere... noctu civitatem egressi cum suo rege ad Arnulfi regis auxilium cum suo rege se
contulerunt. And 895, 76: At hi qui cum Karolo erant conferunt se ad Zuendebolchum eique partem
regni consentiunt, uti veniat et iuvet Karolo suo consobrino. Offergeld, Reges pueri, 453—459.

106 So Offergeld, Reges pueri, 415.

107 Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 5, 380—381.

108 No source indicates whether Heribert I formed part of this alliance in 888. Even if he did, he was
not as powerful as he would be in 893, since it was only in 888/889 that he started to accumulate
honores. On this process, see Werner, Untersuchungen V and Schwager, Graf, 26-28.

109 For a detailed analysis of the alliance of 893, see below.
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own connections, like Wido of Spoleto, or had a power base sufficient to fight Odo,
like Arnulf. Since Charles could provide neither of them, he was disqualified as a
candidate.

I.1.5 Carolingian blood matters

We can now return to our initial question: why did Odo’s supporters in 893 deny
Louis the Stammerer’s paternity instead of attacking Charles where he was more
vulnerable, the problem of the legitimacy of his birth, as Boso had done in 8797
Four times Charles had been passed over in the royal succession until he finally
became king. In the first three cases, the political circumstances—the rivalry be-
tween the factions of Hugh the Abbot and Gauzlin and the Viking threat—could
be made out as the main reasons. Charles fell victim to his late birth when the
political decisions concerning the succession of his father had already been taken.
Once marginalised, he simply did not possess enough political support to have his
claim enforced. Whether this was due to the problem of the validity of Adelaide’s
marriage to Louis the Stammerer has to remain an open question, although the
political realities appear to have carried enough weight on their own for him to be
cast aside time after time.

Be that as it may, the death of Charles the Fat in 8388 changed the field dramati-
cally. With Odo, a man now reached for the crown who drew his legitimation not
from his blood, but from his victories against the Northmen." Does this mean
that by the end of the 9th century Carolingian legitimacy had lost its importance?
The emperor’s death had created a vacuum due to a lack of heirs and there be-
ing no agreed-upon succession, while Boso’s example from 879 had already dem-
onstrated that the Carolingian monopoly on kingship was not set in stone. Odo,
making use of his prestige, won by defending the realm against the Northmen,
now went down the same path and attempted to fill the vacuum. This new legiti-
mation by victory allowed him to declare his claim while his political connections
and his resources enabled him to enforce it. Yet, the immediate challenges also re-
veal the limits of his support and the fragility of his position. These challenges also
show how weak the power of Carolingian legitimacy had become at that point, for
Fulk and his allies decided against supporting Charles—who was now passed over
for a fourth time—and instead opted first for Wido and then for Arnulf.

It would be wrong, however, to underestimate the force of Carolingian tradi-
tions. They remained an essential part of royal behaviour and representation: the
carefully phrased language of Odo’s diplomas and promissio sets him in line with
his Carolingian predecessors and attempts to negate the different nature of his

110 On the importance of the prestige won from warfare for Carolingian kingship, see Scharff, Gott,
265-276.
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kingship, thus trying to create the impression of uninterrupted continuity. He
had himself crowned at Compiégne,"* the palace that had become so important
under Charles the Bald that it was called Carlopolis by later writers."* His prom-
issio"™ was based on those of Louis the Stammerer and Carloman IL'"™ assuring
the audience that in fact nothing had changed. Immediately after his coronation
he took possession of the Carolingian insignia stored at Saint-Denis."s In short,
Odo did his best to appear no different from his predecessors. He used the force
still inherent in the Carolingian tradition to strengthen his rule. Having no Caro-
lingian blood to legitimise himself, he at least wanted to appear as a Carolingian
since Carolingian traditions offered a legitimation more durable and reliable than
that based on victory, which depended on the fortunes and misfortunes of the
battlefield. How strong the Carolingian argument still was can also be deduced
from Fulk’s letter to Arnulf."” The archbishop certainly did not crown Charles out
of deeply held principles of Carolingian legitimism—we will return to his motives
later—yet his use of the Carolingian card in opposition to Odo’s “strangeness”
shows how much weight Charles’ blood still carried in political discourse."

This was Charles the Simple’s opportunity. Having been passed over in the royal
succession four times and lacking political support he could not have expected to
leave his political backwater soon. Now, however, Odo’s lack of Carolingian blood
and the absence of other male Carolingians—apart from the also questionable
Arnulf and Louis of Provence, Boso’s son with the Carolingian princess Ermen-
gard—improved his position considerably. Because of his claim, Charles was the
ideal candidate, not for a normal succession, but for any opposition challenging
the Robertian’s rule. His blood made him an ideal rallying point for all those dis-
contented with the Robertian. This was why Odo’s supporters did not use the issue
of the legitimacy of Charles’ birth against him but brought forward doubts about
Louis the Stammerer’s paternity. In doing so, they attacked Charles where he had
his advantage over Odo: his Carolingian blood that, even considering his possibly
questionable legitimacy, made him superior to his opponent. Because Carolin-
gian traditions remained strong, simply questioning Charles’ legitimacy did not

111 Schneidmiiller, Tradition, 109. On the continuities in form see Mersiowsky, Urkunde, 214-223.
See also Airlie, Elites, on the takeover of Carolingian practices by important nobles.

112 Annales Vedastini 888, 64.

113 Koziol, Politics, 541-544.

114 Recueil Eudes, 209-211.

115 Favre, Eudes, 91-92.

116 Schneidmiiller, Tradition, 110-116. Schneidmiiller furthermore refers to similarities of legends
and symbols on seals and coins as well as the links to his predecessors created by Odo’s diplomas.
Schneidmiiller, Tradition, 120 summarises: “Odo war es gelungen, karolingische Tradition fiir
seine Zwecke zu adaptieren. Verschiedene duflere Zeichen der Konigsherrschaft sind beredte
Zeugnisse fiir die robertinischen Bemithungen, Herrschaft in ihrer Kontinuitit zu begreifen.
Odos Herrschaftspraxis und Herrschaftsverstindnis kommen in vielem einer vélligen Imitation
karolingischer Vorbilder gleich.”

117 See also Airlie, Elites, 428—429.

118 On the limits of Carolingian legitimacy as a political concept, see Airlie, Nearly Men, 30.
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suffice. Charles’ Carolingian blood had to be denied entirely, since it was the pillar
on which his claim rested.

1.2 Close supporters and distant allies

Even relatively recently, the members of the alliance elevating Charles to the
throne have been described as lacking constancy and principles, driven mainly
by self-interest."” Yet the war which ensued between the Carolingian’s support-
ers and Odo lasted more than four years and, in the end, Charles not only kept
his crown, however small his realm may have been, but it was also agreed that he
would succeed the Robertian upon the latter’s death. If this network was indeed
so fragile, why had the conflict lasted so long and ended with such a positive result
for Charles? It would appear that the motives of the alliance’s members in oppos-
ing Odo and supporting Charles were strong enough to create a certain level of
group cohesion, a cohesion that proved sufficient to withstand even great pressure
from the Robertian. However, scholars rarely produce their arguments out of thin
air. What, then, are the reasons for the image of the alliance as unprincipled and
inconstant?

1.2.1 Archbishop Fulk of Reims

The best starting point for an analysis of this network is one of its principal agents,
the oft-mentioned Archbishop Fulk of Reims, who we saw acting against Odo in
888. Fulk first appears in the sources accompanying Charles the Bald to Rome
in 875. Two years later he became abbot of Saint-Bertin and was among those
to whom the emperor entrusted his realm and his son Louis in the capitulary of
Quierzy.” He seems to have spent the following years at the royal court'?, yet his ac-
tual influence is hard to determine since he neither figures in royal diplomas nor is
mentioned by the narrative sources. After Hincmar’s death he became archbishop
of Reims, which seems to indicate closeness with the dominating factions around
Hugh the Abbot and Gauzlin.'> Despite his new position, his influence at court
remains hard to trace. Soon after his ordination, he wrote a letter recommending
King Carloman to Pope Marinus 1. In summer 884, he visited Charles the Fat

119 Offergeld, Reges pueri, 425: “Die folgenden Jahre sollten zeigen, daff die Groflen sich ihre
Unterstiitzung von Fall zu Fall neu abringen lieflen; eine verldflliche oder gar gesinnungsfeste
Gefolgschaft hat Karl nie besessen.” Similar Schneider, Erzbischof, 112.

120 Schneider, Erzbischof, 22-23.

121 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 4, 379.

122 Schneider, Erzbischof, 25-27.

123 Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 1, 363-364.
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in Metz to ask for the restoration of possessions in Thuringia,”™ which indicates

that he had connections outside the realm, but again does not shed light on his
actual influence in the politics of the West Frankish court. Once the emperor had
become ruler in the West as well, Fulk sent him a letter asking for his help in the
defence of Paris against the Northmen," yet, as before, this letter says more of
Fulk’s ambition to gain a preeminent position than his actual influence.”? Instead,
Charles’ reign saw the rise of Odo, who favoured the church of his relative, Arch-
bishop Walter of Sens. Fulk’s opposition to Odo might thus be seen in the context
of the struggle between the sees of Reims and Sens for the primacy of the Gallic
church.' Yet this solution seems too narrow, as it fails to consider the archbishop’s
political ambitions, demonstrated by his invitation to Wido of Spoleto to take the
crown after the death of Charles the Fat before turning to Arnulf of Carinthia.
Fulk, as archbishop of Reims, seems to have claimed a central position in West
Frankish politics that had been denied to him during the reigns of Carloman II
and Charles the Fat. Odo’s power, on the other hand, was firmly rooted in his
Neustrian possessions and honores, while the position at his side was occupied
for now by Count Theoderic of Vermandois.”® Under the rule of the Robertian,
Fulk could not hope to gain the influence on royal affairs which Odo himself had
wielded under Charles the Fat. It was a lack of proximity to the new king which
frustrated his political ambitions and provoked his resistance.

Aware of the archbishop’s ambitions, Odo followed a policy of appeasement
and integration, trying to deal with the root cause of the resistance initially shown
by Fulk and the nobles around him. Count Baldwin II had already submitted to
Odo before the Robertian met with Arnulf.”® After the meeting, in a well-enacted
ceremony, Odo was crowned for a second time at Reims,” probably by Fulk
himself,"”! who also received a diploma for his church.”> Odo then moved on to
spend Christmas at Saint-Vaast, one of the abbeys of Abbot Rodulf, one of Fulk’s
allies when he had turned to Arnulf. In 890, the abbot also received a diploma
through the intercession of Odo’s wife, Theodrada.”® Another diploma went to

124 DChF 106, 30th June 884.

125 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 380.

126 See also Schneider, Erzbischof, 38.

127 Offergeld, Reges pueri, 412. On the subject of the primate of the Gallic Church see Schramm,
Konig, 113—-114. During his lifetime, Hincmar had unsuccessfully fought for the primate of Reims.

128 Theoderic is mentioned as Odo’s most important supporter by the Annales Vedastini (888, 64).
Soon after, he appears as Odo’s emissary to Arnulf. Annales Vedastini 888, 65. On him see Wer-
ner, Untersuchungen V, 89-91.

129 Annales Vedastini 888, 66.

130 Guillot, Etapes, 215-216.

131 Schneider, Erzbischof, 58—59.

132 DOdo 31, probably dating to 891/892. See Schneider, Erzbischof, 94, n. 92. At some point during
his reign, Odo also made a grant to the Church of Reims for the celebration of his anniversary
(DOdo 47).

133 DOdo 20.
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Bishop Dido of Laon,** a suffragan of the church of Reims. Dido, as well as Hono-
ratus of Beauvais and Riculf of Soissons, accompanied Fulk to a large assembly at
Verberie in 892."> Whether Count Heribert I, who was to become one of Charles’
most important allies,*® had supported Odo or had joined the ranks of Fulk’s allies
cannot be answered, but just after Christmas 889, he appeared in one of the kings
diplomas as “one of our great men.”” Odo’s reign certainly does mark Heribert’s
ascent: from 888 onwards he became count of Meaux, the Vexin, the Mézerais and
Soissons, while his brother Pippin acquired the county of Beauvais.”® Odo’s net-
work in the Francia is dealt with in the next chapter, so for the moment we shall
simply note that, among those the Robertian tried to integrate into his rule, we can
find at least two—Fulk and Heribert—who were to become the leading members
of the revolt against him.

For the next few years however, nothing indicates that the two were funda-
mentally opposed to Odo. Heribert, who was close to the king at the end of 889,
unfortunately disappears from the sources. Fulk, on the other hand, remains much
more visible. After his final submission to the king, he mostly appears to have
cooperated with Odo. The Visio Karoli,"” probably written at Reims, endorses the
right of Louis of Provence to the imperial crown and may be a sign that Fulk tried
to promote Louis as a candidate for the West Frankish throne, which would indi-
cate his continuing ambition to claim a central role in the realm’s politics. With
that said, the question is still not resolved satisfactorily.** More important for the
political situation in the realm was the struggle for the episcopal see of Langres.
After the death of Bishop Isaac, the clergy and people of Langres had chosen the
deacon Teutbald and asked Pope Stephen V to consecrate him, against the will of
the metropolitan Aurelian of Lyon, who should have been the one to consecrate
the new bishop."*! Stephen refused the demand, as he did not want to interfere
with the archbishop’s rights, and instead advised Aurelian to consecrate Teutbald,
unless he happened to have any personal objections to him. If that were to be

134 DOdo 29. Whether Dido had opposed Odo with his metropolitan is not clear, as he does not
appear to have accompanied Fulk to meet Arnulf. Later on he can be found close to the king
when he refused to absolve the captured Walker of Laon (Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 6, 392-393). Even
after the rebellion of 893, Dido stayed loyal to Odo, defending Laon against Charles and Zwenti-
bold in 895. Annales Vedastini 895, 76.

135 DOdo 30. In addition to these bishops, the archbishops Walter of Sens and Wido of Rouen were
also present. Of the suffragans present, Honoratus of Beauvais would stay loyal to Odo even after
FulK’s revolt, trying to excommunicate count Aledramnus (Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 6, 394).

136 See below.

137 DOdo 16 (30th December 889), 76: ...proceribus nostris Hubaldo et Heriberto...

138 Werner, Untersuchungen V, 92-100.

139 Visio Karoli, 458.

140 See Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 100106, in favour of this reading. Following him and providing
an assessment of the chances of the project is Schneider, Erzbischof, 69-72. Critical is Pokorny,
Brieffragment, 617. MacLean, Kingship, 166 also follows Hlawitschka’s arguments. See also
Dutton, Politics, 233—251, who dates the Visio to 888.

141 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 1, 367-368.
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the case, by papal order no other bishop might be appointed in the meantime.
Furthermore, Stephen sent Bishop Oirannus of Senigallia as his legate to mediate
between the two parties.”*> On Oirannus’ arrival at Lyon, Aurelian sent him on to
Langres with the promise to proceed there himself as soon as possible, which he
then failed to do. When his refusal to follow the pope’s commands became ap-
parent, the clergy and people of Langres sent another letter to Rome, once more
asking Stephen to consecrate Teutbald. The pope, still unwilling to interfere with
Aurelian’s rights, now sent a letter to the archbishop to enquire about his rea-
sons for refusing Teutbald."® Once again Aurelian did not respond; instead, he,
together with his suffragans and Archbishop Bernuin of Vienne, now consecrated
the cleric Argrim as bishop."** Only then did the pope send instructions—this time
to Fulk—to consecrate Teutbald,* in turn prompting Odo to send an embassy to
Rome. Fulk, for his part, informed Stephen that he would not act before the return
of the embassy.*® Early in 891, Teutbald was finally consecrated and installed as
bishop of Langres. Eduard Hlawitschka has interpreted Fulk’s role in the affair as
that of a leading actor who tried to install his protégé, Teutbald, in Langres, acting
against Odo’s candidate, Argrim, and finally successfully depriving the king of
an important foothold in northern Burgundy."*” However, as Rudolf Pokorny has
shown, neither Fulk’s purported backing of Teutbald nor Odo’s for Argrim can be
supported by evidence."** Whether and how the archbishop of Reims finally acted
is indeed unclear; from his only appearance, it seems that he did indeed cooperate
with the king.

The picture is clearer in a number of other cases in which Fulk seems to have
supported Odo’s policies. In 892, the king participated in a synod concerning a
dispute between the abbess Hildegard and a certain Hermingard."’ Likewise, the
archbishop and his suftragans Dido of Laon, Honoratus of Beauvais and Riculf of
Soissons were present at a royal assembly at Verberie, where they sat in judgement
over the case of the monk Aginus with the archbishops, Walter of Sens and Wido
of Rouen.”® Finally, Fulk sided with the king against Baldwin II of Flanders in
the conflict over the abbeys of Saint-Vaast and Saint-Bertin: after taking counsel
from four of his suffragans, Fulk ordered Bishop Dodilo of Cambrai to dissuade
the count from continuing with his course of action and threatened his followers

142 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 1, 368.

143 Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 1, 368.

144 The consecration of Argrim is noted in a letter of Pope John IX to the clergy and people of
Langres (Gallia Christiana IV, cols. 540, JL 3520) and a letter of Pope Benedict IV also to the
clergy and people of Langres (Gallia Christiana IV, cols. 540, JL 3528) and, without mentioning
Argrim’s name, Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 1, 368. See also Schneider, Erzbischof, 85, n. 59.

145 Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 1, 368.

146 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 1, 369.

147 Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 99-106.

148 Pokorny, Brieffragment, 613—-620.

149 Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 6, 389 and 390. Of Hildegard and Hermingard nothing further is known.

150 DOdo 30.
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with anathema if he did not give in.” When Dodilo failed to obey, Fulk held a
synod to deal with the matter and wrote directly to Baldwin, threatening him with
excommunication.”* Until late in the year, Fulk seems to have supported Odo’s
rule—and even profited from it. When the monks of Saint-Bertin, having refused
Baldwin as their new abbot, received Odo’s permission to make their own choice,
they elected Fulk as abbot.”**

However, it is worthwhile to note another dispute, also related to the death
of Abbot Rodulf. Rodulf had not only held the abbeys of Saint-Vaast and Saint-
Bertin, but also Cysoing and the relics of Saint Calixtus. Before his death, Rodulf
had placed both under the protection of the church of Reims. Yet, once Rodulf
died, his sister’s husband, Hucbald, one of Odo’s closest allies in Francia,”* took
the abbey under his control. Fulk wrote to the pope to ask him for advice on the
matter, to demand a confirmation of the donation and to threaten all opponents
with excommunication.” In his answer, reported by Flodoard, Pope Formosus
did indeed confirm Cysoing as the possession of the church of Reims; however,
there is no mention of any threats of excommunication.”® This may indicate that
Hucbald had given up his claim on the abbey by the time of Formosus’ reply.
However, relations between the archbishop and the count remained tense even
after the affair was resolved. When Fulk instructed Dodilo of Cambrai to fetch Ca-
lixtus’ relics from Arras and transfer them to Saint-Quentin, Dodilo chose to seize
the relics, making Fulk fear that he would hand them over to Hucbald.”” Both
abbey and relics finally ended up in the possession of the archbishop, as Flodoard
states,” but whether this happened under Odo or under Charles remains open.
It is nevertheless worth noting that Fulk, just before he decided to revolt against
Odo, was in conflict with one of the king’s main supporters in Francia. In general

151 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 6, 391.

152 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 7, 396—397.

153  Folcwin, Gesta Abbatum S. Bertini Sithensium, c. 98, 624. Before becoming archbishop of Reims,
Fulk had previously been abbot of Saint-Bertin.

154 Hucbald was married to Heilwich, daughter of Eberhard of Friuli and sister to Abbot Rodulf. On
him see Grierson, Maison, 257 and Le Jan, Famille, 50 and 443. Odo and Hucbald were already
in contact before 888. Bischof, Anecdota, N°V, 131-132. In this letter, the widow of the lay abbot
of Saint-Symphorien of Orléans complains that Odo and Hucbald had interfered with her rights
and possessions. The letter also names Hucbald as count of Senlis, against the older literature
wrongly depicting him as count of the Ostrevent (Grierson, Origine, 111). Hucbald appears in
DDOdo 16 (proceres noster), 38 (in omnibus fidelis noster ... comes) and 48 (a deperditum). His
nephew Heriveus appears as notary in Odo’s diplomas from DOdo 36 (894, May 2) onwards.

155 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 1, 371. Sot, Historien, dates Fulk’s letter to Formosus to winter 891/892.
Since it makes reference to events taking place after the death of Abbot Rodulf (5th January 892,
Annales Vedastini 892, 70), the letter was probably composed in January or February 892.

156 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 2, 373. The letter was composed after Easter 892 (23rd April), as it makes
reference to the coronation of Lambert of Spoleto.

157 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 6, 392. Sot, Historien, followed by the editors of the MGH-edition (391,
n. 34), dates this letter to 893. Since the letter refers to the death of Abbot Rodulf and Fulk states
that he planned to re-transfer the relics to Cysoing once peace was restored, the second half of
892 seems equally likely.

158 Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 8, 399.
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however, Fulk cooperated with Odo in cases such as the succession of Langres and
supported him against Baldwin II; while the Visio Karoli, despite all the problems
of interpreting it, might be read as a sign of his continuing ambitions.

Yet does this mean that Fulk wholeheartedly supported Odo’s rule? As he in-
dicates in his letter, it was not until late 892 that he was approached by a group of
discontented nobles for advice.” The origins of this newest conspiracy against
Odo seem indeed to have been quite recent, at least as concerns the archbishop.'®
However, this passage also shows that Fulk was perceived as someone who would
not betray such discontent—which would indicate that he was not part of Odo’s
most inner circle—and, in addition, that he was thought likely to support this new
opposition. The archbishop, despite his cooperation with Odo, was apparently
known for having had a negative attitude towards the king. At the same time how-
ever, the king himself seems to have continued to be oblivious to this, as he, on the
advice of that very same group, decided to leave Francia and march to Aquitaine
just before they openly rebelled against him.'! Fulk figured as a rallying point for
the opposition and his cooperation with Odo was therefore probably motivated
less by actual conviction than by necessity in the face of political realities. As the
year 888 had proven, opposition against Odo needed stronger support than he
could mobilise on his own. This, of course, does not mean that Fulk only bided his
time, waiting for an opportunity to rebel. Cooperation could also be beneficial, as
him becoming abbot of Saint-Bertin for a second time shows."> Under different
circumstances, cooperation might have given the archbishop the political influ-
ence he aspired to.

1.2.2 The network elevating Charles

This leads us to the network that was now formed to elevate and support Charles.
According to Regino of Priim, most of the Francian nobles renounced Odo to
follow the new king,'® yet this statement should be read with great care. Several
bishops from the archdiocese of Reims remained loyal to the Robertian and a
number of counts from the area did not side with Fulk either, most prominently
Odo’s old ally Count Hucbald of Senlis."* Within the group, the archbishop oc-
cupied the most prominent role. We have already seen him become a rallying

159 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 380.

160 Schneider, Erzbischof, 104.

161 Annales Vedastini 892, 72—-73.

162 See above. Apart from Saint-Bertin, Fulk also received the abbey of Avenay from Odo. Flodoard,
HREYV, c. 8, 399.

163 Regino, Chronicon 892, 140: Odone rege in Aquitania commorante Francorum principes ex per-
maxima parte ab eo deficiunt, et agentibus Folcone archiepiscopo, Heriberto et Pippino comitibus
in Remorum civitate Carolus filius Ludowici ex Adalheide regina, ut supra meminimus, natus in
regnum elevatur.

164 On the bishops see below. Hucbald figures in DOdo 38 (13th January 894—12th January 895).



1.2 Close supporters and distant allies 45

point for those discontented with Odo’s reign. After the rebellion began, he did
his best to further Charles’ cause by using his contacts with popes and kings.'*
Fulk’s central position is also reflected by the Annales Vedastini, which repeatedly
mention him as one of the leaders, being close to Charles® and acting as legate to
Arnulf.*” After Fulk, Count Heribert occupied a key position. Having risen under
Odo and now holding several counties, he was mentioned by Fulk as one of those
who approached him before the rebellion.'® Regino of Priim names him as one of
the leaders of the rebellion, next to his brother Pippin and Archbishop Fulk'® and
later he appears as a military leader” and chief negotiator.” His defection to Odo
in 896 seems to have hit Charles especially hard. Relations between him and the
count appear to have deteriorated so much that, a year later, Heribert was the only
noble who had left Charles’ side who the sources mention to be formally recon-
ciled with the Carolingian.”

Unmentioned by the narrative sources yet at the same time prominent in both
of Charles’ surviving diplomas from the years of the rebellion is another key ac-
tor: his mother Adelaide. That Carolingian queens could possess political influ-
ence is well known yet hard to assess in individual cases.”” In Adelaide’s case,
she intervened remarkably often in Charles’ diplomas—thirteen times"” in the 31
charters that have survived as originals or copies—until her death in 901.”> Only
three times is she named queen (regina), but all of the diplomas name her as “our
mother” (genitrix nostra), with epithets varying from “venerable” (venerabilis)
to “dearest” (carissima) and “most beloved” (dilectissima) and even “sweetest”
(perdulcissima).”® Her importance thus does not seem to have stemmed from

165 Correspondence concerning Charles with Pope Formosus: indicating Charles’ coronation:
Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 2, 374. Asking for the pope’s mediation with Arnulf, Odo and Lambert of
Spoleto: HRE 1V, c. 3, 875, and HRE 1V, c. 3, 376. To Arnulf the aforementioned letter dating to
893 and another in 894, assuring him of their good intentions: Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 383. To
Wido asking him to protect Charles: Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 383-384.

166 Annales Vedastini 893, 73: Post pascha Domini Fulcho archiepiscopus et Heribertus comes assu-
mentes Karolum regem cum omni exercitu disponunt [ire] contra Odonem regem... Annales Vedas-
tini 893, 74: Karolus vero cum Fulcone Remis repedavit.

167 Annales Vedastini 895, 75-76.

168 Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 5, 381.

169 Regino, Chronicon 892, 140-141.

170 Annales Vedastini 893, 73.

171 Annales Vedastini 895, 77.

172 Annales Vedastini 896, 77 and 897, 79.

173 See Hartmann, K6nigin, 162-167.

174 DDChS 5,7, 10, 11, 14, 15, 22, 23, 27, 32, 35, 39 and 41.

175 Adelaide died on 18th November, in all probability 901, since DChS 41, 9th November 901 marks
her last appearance in the sources. Hlawitschka, Ahnen II, 238.

176 DChS 5, 6: karissimae et venerabilis genitricis nostre Adeleydis; DChS 7, 10: venerabilis et carissimae
genitricis nostrae Adelheidis; DChS 10, 16: dilectissimae genetricis nostrae Adelais; DChS 11, 18:
venerabilis genetrix nostra Adelheidis regina; DChS 14, 25: predulcissime genitricis nostre Adeleid-
is; DChS 15, 27: perdulcissimae genitricis notrae Adeleidis; DChS 22, 43: venerabilis genetrix nostra
Adheleydis regina; DChS 23, 46: venerabilis genetricis nostre Adheleidis; DChS 27, 57: venerabili
genitrice nostra Adheleide; DChS 32, 68: dulcissime genitricis nostre Adelheidis regine; DChS 35,
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her position as queen. The special character of her appearances will be addressed
again at a later point.”” For the moment, it suffices to note that all of the nobles
she intervened with had connections to the court independent from her, as in the
cases of Fulk,”® his suffragan bishops Honoratus of Beauvais and Rudolf of Laon'”®
and the counts Ecfrid®” and Erkanger.” While she was certainly important, it does
not automatically follow that her importance was based on her own political con-
nections. Rather, it seems that, based on her role as his mother, she was Charles’
closest advisor during these years, and that the diplomas reflect her influence on
the young king.

As we have seen, Fulk and Heribert were both integrated into Odo’s rule. Al-
though not part of Odo’s innermost circle, they were nevertheless in contact with
the king. Another instigator of the rebellion was part of this inner circle, the man
who led the group approaching the archbishop of Reims: Anskeric, the bishop of
Paris, the king’s archchancellor in succession to the rebellious abbot Ebolus of
Saint-Denis.” Little is known about Anskeric. His brother was Count Tetbert of
Meaux and he may have had relatives in the Langrois."® A marriage alliance with
Pippin, father of Count Heribert I of Vermandois, has also been suggested, which
would explain the connection between the bishop and the count.”® In addition, a
later source, the Carmen de pontificibus romanis, indicates that he was related to
Charles the Simple." Politically, Anskeric seems initially to have been in competi-
tion with Gauzlin for the office of bishop of Paris, failing to secure it on the death
of Angelwinus. He nonetheless appeared at the court of Charles the Fat in 885 as
episcopus vocatus.” Charles’” support allowed him to succeed to the episcopal see
upon the death of Gauzlin."” His proximity to the emperor and his position in
Paris are both emphasised by the fact that, when the Vikings arrived at the city in
887 to demand the tribute promised to them in return for lifting the siege the year
before, it was Anskeric who went to Charles,” before negotiating their passage to

75: dulcissima genitrix nostra Adeleidis; DChS 39, 83: dulcissima genitrix nostra Adeleydis;
DChS 41, 90: dilectissima genitrice nostra Adeleide.

177 See chapter I11.2.2.

178 DChS 5.

179 DChS 10, 8th February 898.

180 DChS 35, 31st October 900.

181 DChS 39, 21st August 901.

182 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 381. The last diploma with Ebolus as archchancellor is DOdo 28 (25th July
891), followed by DOdo 30 (30th September 892), which features Anskeric in the same position.
In DOdo 33 (28th May 893) Adalgar, bishop of Autun, has succeeded Anskeric.

183 Bautier, Recueil Eudes, XXVIII.

184 Werner, Untersuchungen V, 95-102.

185 Mansi, Concilia XVIII, col. 110. Formosus to Anskeric of Paris: Sacrilegos quosdam sacrati
culminis atros carptores, summi capitis clarissima membra attemerare ausos, anathematis ense
recisos notificans, monet hunc nodos dignae addere multae sceptrigeri quoque cognati pro culmine
certet. See also Favre, Eudes, 151, n. 4.

186 DChF 116.

187 Bautier, Recueil Eudes, XXVI-XXVII.

188 Annales Vedastini 887, 63.
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Burgundy.” Once Odo had become king, Anskeric joined his operations against
the Vikings with his own troops.”® He appears shortly afterwards as abbot of Saint-
Germain of Auxerre,” intervened for Bishop Argrim of Langres before the king"
and finally became archchancellor in 892." Thus the bishop’s political importance
can hardly be overestimated, an importance he also possessed within Charles’ in-
ner circle after the rebellion had begun. He now became the Carolingian’s new
archchancellor, the same role he had held at Odo’s court.”* However, Charles’
only other diploma surviving from the years of the rebellion, dating to the sum-
mer of 896, names neither him nor any other as archchancellor," indicating that
he had left Charles’” side. When this happened, however, is not clear. It may have
occurred at the very time that Heribert and Fulk defected from the Carolingian. In
any case, this appears not to have had any lasting consequences for their relation-
ship. After Fulk’s death, Anskeric immediately resumed his old office.””®

Taking the office as an indicator of importance, we can also add another count
to the men close to the Carolingian. A certain Elduin appears as count of the pal-
ace in a private charter of Richard the Justiciar in 896.”” His presence there can
be explained by the negotiations taking place between Charles and Richard, with
Elduin acting as the former’s legate. This would also emphasise his importance at
Charles’ court at that moment, furthered by the circumstance that Heribert, Fulk
and others had submitted to Odo earlier during that year.

Other counts also participated in important negotiations. Treating with Odo in
895, Heribert was accompanied by Erkanger and Ecfrid.”® Little is known about
either of them. Ecfrid was one of those who first approached Fulk in late 892*° and

189 Abbo, Bella II, 96, v. 411-415. Bautier, Recueil Eudes, XXVII, suggests that the Northmen were
prohibited from using the Marne, as Anskeric’s brother Teutbert was count of Meaux.

190 Abbo, Bella II, 102, v. 485-488.

191 DOdo 12.

192 DOdo 15.

193 DOdo 30, 30th September 892. See also Bautier, Recueil Eudes, XXV-XXIX.

194 DChS 5, 26th September 894, 7.

195 DChS 7, 25th July 896, preserved as original.

196 DChS 30, 23rd June 900.

197 21st December 896. Cartulaire Montiéramey, 18, N° 12. The charter (XII calendas januarii,
anno II1I regnante Karolo, Francorum rege) can either be dated to 896 or 901. In 901, however,
William the Pious had become Charles’ count of the palace (Recueil Cluny I, 83—84, N° 74, 29th
November 901, is signed by William as principis et comiti palatio), making the later dating im-
possible. That Elduin was Charles’ count of the palace and not Odo’s can be deduced from the
dating, which names the former as king. It seems possible that this Elduin is identical with Count
Hilduin who, towards the end of Carloman II’s reign, received a part of the royal fisc in Tournai
(DCmII 86). On this Hilduin as count in the Noyonnais see Vercauteren, Etude, 244-245.

198 Annales Vedastini 895, 77.

199 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 381. Favre, Eudes, 184, Schneider, Erzbischof, 107 and Offergeld, Reges
pueri, 842 see in him the count of Artois; Eckel, Charles, 11, identifies him as count of Arras.
Vanderkindere, Formations I, 46, is more careful; he also considers the position of Abbot Rodulf,
and argues that he was not the count of, but a count in the Artois, e.g. of the Ostrevant or Douai.
Lauer, Recueil Charles III, 74, n. 2, identifies him as count of the Hiémois and lay abbot of Saint-
Evroult, without giving any further reasons.
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is also attested in the sources in connection with Baldwin II’s rebellion after the
death of the abbot Rodulf. At the time, the monks of Saint-Vaast first sent him to
ask after the king’s will, only then to choose Baldwin as abbot on the advice of a
certain Everbert.?* That Fulk chose to mention him in his letter nonetheless indi-
cates that Ecfrid was of some political importance. Erkanger, generally identified
as count of Boulogne, had served as Gauzlin’s legate in 886 when he went to seek
Duke Henry’s help against the Northmen.”" Like Heribert, he left Charles’ side
in 896.2% Heribert’s brother, the already mentioned Pippin, also belonged to this
circle of men carrying some political weight while probably not belonging to the
group of central decision makers.

Also interesting is the case of yet another count, Aledramnus. He was sent to
Arnulf by Fulk before Charles’ coronation, only to be excommunicated by Bishop
Honoratus of Beauvais soon after.””® The choice of Aledramnus as emissary to
Arnulf was by no means coincidental. Since the last decade of Charles the Bald’s
reign, the count had been a leading member of the Frankish nobility, appearing
prominently in diplomas of Charles the Bald, Louis the Stammerer and Charles
the Fat.?** During Charles the Fat’s reign, he and his brother, Count Theoderic—
himself a very important ally of Odo—led the advance guard during the emper-
or’s march on Paris.””®> Moreover, Aledramnus was related not only to Charles the
Simple,**® but also to Odo, whose wife Theodrada was Aledramnus’ daughter.*”
The count thus was a political heavyweight, well connected in the highest circles.
Choosing him as emissary to Arnulf sent a powerful message to the realm: Ale-
dramnus’ support tied the reign of the young Charles to the reigns of his father
and grandfather and demonstrated that even Odo’s closest supporters—even
members of his own family—rallied around the young Carolingian.

The mention of the Lotharingian Count Reginar Longneck at Charles’ side in
895 is difficult to assess. In his fight with Odo, Charles and his supporters had
concluded an alliance with the Lotharingian king, Zwentibold. Having united
their forces, they now besieged Laon, where, as the Annales Vedastini report,
“Reginar Longneck, count, marchio, accepting bad advice, left Charles and went
to Zwentibold.”**® This phrasing indicates that he, although a Lotharingian noble,

200 Annales Vedastini 892, 70.

201 Annales Vedastini 886, 59.

202 Annales Vedastini 896, 77.

203 Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 5, 383 and c. 6, 394.

204 DChB 356 (293: dilectus nobis, illustris comitis et ministerialis nostri) and DChB 347 (273:
dilectissimus nobis ministerialis, dilectus comes et ministerialis noster), DLS 28 (84: carissimus
nobis comes and dilectus propinquus noster comes) and DChF 120 (190: dilectus nobis comes).

205 Abbo, Bella II, 90, v. 328—329.

206 Asbecomes clear of DLS 28. Lot, Notes, 150, supposed that Aledramnus was related to Louis’ wife
Adelaide, Le Jan, Famille, 256, n. 230 sees a direct tie to Louis.

207 Favre, Eudes, 202-203 and Le Jan, Famille, 237. Settipani, Préhistoire, 404—405 notes Theodra-
da’s origin as unknown.

208 Annales Vedastini 895, 76: Zuendebolchus vero rex et Karolus cum exercitu veniunt Laudunumque
obsidione cingunt. Balduinus vero comes et Hrodulfus frater eius necnon et Ragnerus non bono
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had previously supported Charles. Reginar appears to have held possessions in
the Western kingdom?*” and had married Charles’ sister Ermentrude around 888,
the latter probably dying around 892, after the birth of her daughter Cunigunde.”
Whether he had joined Charles at the beginning of the rebellion or only later can-
not be established. It seems plausible that, due to his connections to both Charles
and Zwentibold, he had established the link between the two, yet, lacking further
evidence, this is mere speculation. Since, during the rebellion, he is not mentioned
before nor after this incident, it appears best to assume that his importance within
the network supporting Charles was limited to a shorter period around the con-
clusion of the alliance with Zwentibold.

Less problematic, but certainly of more peripheral importance within the net-
work, were other men: Gauzfrid’s sons, nephews of Gauzlin and relations of the
Ramnulfids in Aquitaine,” belonged to the initial group approaching Fulk;?? the
otherwise unknown Count Adalung was killed accompanying the archbishop to
a meeting with Arnulf.*® From the archdiocese of Reims the bishops Heitilo of
Noyon, Herilandus of Thérouanne and, soon afterwards, Mancio of Chalons™*
joined the ranks, along with Bishop Teutbald of Langres in northern Burgundy.**
The example of the archdiocese of Reims, however, also demonstrates the limits
of this new network. A number of suffragans did not agree with the policy of their

consilio accepto Karolum reliquerunt et se ad Zuendebolchum contulerunt. For Baldwin and his
brother see below.

209 An assumption that can be traced back through the literature at least to Stein, Geschichte, 199,
but has never been actually proven. It seems likely however, since Regino of Priim reports that
when Zwentibold banned Reginar from the kingdom, he took all his honoribus, hereditatibus,
quas in suo regno habebat (Chronicon 898, 145), indicating that he also held others outside his
realm. Situating them in the West would explain why Reginar turned to Charles on more than
one occassion. See also Parisot, Royaume, 542 and Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 175. Barth, Her-
z0g, 32, claims that Reginar held property south-east of Orléans. How he comes to this conclu-
sion unfortunately remains unclear.

210 Renn, Grafenhaus, 10-12 and Hlawitschka, Ahnen II, 235. Reginar’s son Gislebert stemmed from
a second marriage with Albrada. On the old claim that Reginar was a descendent of Lothar I
(Werner, Nachkommen, p, 412 and Settipani, Préhistoire I, 264) see Hlawitschka, Ahnen II,
231-236. According to him, there is no evidence that Reginar did indeed stem from the marriage
between his father Count Gislebert and Lothar’s daughter. He furthermore argues that neither
the royal diplomas of Louis the Child or Charles the Simple make mention of a kinship with
Reginar, nor do Reginar’s own charters.

211 Le Jan, Famille, 445, table N° 61.

212 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 381.

213 Annales Vedastini 895, 75-76; Regino, Chronicon 895, 143.

214 Schneider, Erzbischof, 108. Unfortunately Schneider does not give any sources for this statement.
Herilandus of Thérouanne was Fulk’s favourite for the empty episcopal siege of Chélons-en-
Champagne (Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 3, 377-378) before he ordinated Mancio (Flodoard, HRE IV,
c. 3, 377). Heitilo of Noyon seems to have been Fulk’s confidant in the case of the transfer of the
relics of Saint Calixt (Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 6, 391-392) and received a diploma from Charles in
898 (DChS 2), both of which may indicate that he also supported Fulk and thereby Charles after
893. Schneider also adds Riculf of Soissons to the list, which could not be confirmed.

215 Teutbald had sent a legate to Charles’ coronation. Afterwards, Fulk asked him to enquire about
the position of Richard of Burgundy and of the Aquitanian nobles. Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 6, 395.



50 I. Becoming king: The questions of legitimacy and support

metropolitan: Dido of Laon as well as Honoratus of Beauvais stayed loyal to the
king™® as, possibly, did Otgar of Amiens.*”

We have so far described different layers of the network forming to rebel against
Odo and elevating Charles to his father’s throne. The innermost core consisted of
Charles’ mother Adelaide, Archbishop Fulk of Reims, Bishop Anskeric of Paris
and Count Heribert of Vermandois. In the next layer were men like Heribert’s
brother Pippin, Count Aledramnus, the Count of the Palace Elduin, Count Er-
kanger, Count Ecfrid and possibly also Reginar Longneck if he indeed belonged
to Charles’ supporters. Undoubtedly to the outer rim belonged those primarily in
contact with the men from the inner core or those whose base lay a greater dis-
tance from Francia: Count Adalung, Fulk’s suffragan bishops Heitilo, Herilandus
and Mancio, Bishop Teutbald and the sons of Gauzfrid. In the Annales Vedastini

this group is most often referred to as “those who were with Charles,””® indicating,

as Thilo Offergeld has shown, their influence on the actions of the king. Whenever
political decisions had to be made, the annals emphasise their role as a group
and only mention Charles when they indicate simple geographical movement.?”
“Those who were with Charles” are thus opposed to the fideles who were accompa-
nying and counselling Odo. The Robertian made his own policies; Charles seems
to have been a boy-king dominated by those around him.

1.2.3 The motives behind the rebellion

What was it that brought these nobles together?” Adelaide, we may reasonably
presume, wanted to further her son. Fulk had received at least two abbeys since

216 See above, chapters 1.2.1, n. 134 and 1.2.2, n. 203. Whether Dodilo of Cambrai also stayed loyal
to Odo as Schneider, Erzbischof, 108, claims, is doubtful. Many of Fulk’s letters accuse Dodilo
of opposition to the archbishop, yet none does so in the context of the rebellion against Odo.
Furthermore, as Cambrai was part of the kingdom of Lotharingia, Dodilo was not even a subject
of Odo, but of Arnulf and later on of Zwentibold.

217 No source mentions Otgar as Odo’s supporter. In 900, however, he appears as a witness in one
of Odo’s brother Robert’s private charters (Recueil Robert et Raoul, N° 42), issued at a moment
when the marchio was at conflict with Charles. See chapter II1.2.2.1.

218 Hi qui cum Karolo erant, for example Annales Vedastini 894, 74. For further references see
Offergeld, Reges pueri, 454.

219 Offergeld, Reges pueri, 454—455.

220 Scholarshave madedifferentattemptstoexplain their opposition, especially concerning Archbishop
Fulk. Eckel, Charles, 9, portrayed Fulk as a defender of Carolingian legitimacy. Favre, Eudes, saw
a claim of the church of Reims on the abbey of Saint-Martin of Tours as a reason for the archbish-
op’s opposition (6), as well as his desire to unite all of the archdiocese’s suffragans under the rule
of one king, Arnulf (101-102). Offergeld, Reges pueri, 411-412, emphasises the rivalry between the
church of Reims and the church of Sens. Schneider, Erzbischof, 54—55, does not see any plausible
reason for the archbishop’s opposition. It was suggested by Schneider, Erzbischof, 109-110, and
emphasised by Schneidmiiller, Tradition, 123, that the party supporting Charles was to a great ex-
tent dominated by members of the Carolingian family. In particular, they singled out the counts
Heribert and Pippin, direct descendants of Bernard of Italy, as well as Bishop Teutbald of Langres.
Within the group which we have distinguished as Charles’ core supporters, this does not appear to
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Odo had become king, Saint-Bertin and Avenay, yet, as we have argued, had not
made it into the king’s inner circle. In Fulk’s case, it is indeed most likely that his
political ambitions were the root of his opposition to Odo. A new king could cer-
tainly offer more than Odo would ever be able to, be it in honores or, more impor-
tantly, influence on royal decision making. From the beginning, Odo’s rule had
not been based on general consent, but rather on his Neustrian possessions and
connections, as well as some support from the likes of Theoderic of Vermandois
and Archbishop Walter of Sens, who thereby increased their influence over the
king.** Only after his victory against the Normans and his recognition by Arnulf
was Odo able to impose his rule over the whole of the realm. That Odo did his best
to integrate former opponents, such as Fulk, shows that he was well aware of their
importance for the stability of his realm. However, they would never have been
able to assume a position equal to that of the king’s first supporters. Charles, on
the other hand, was just a boy on the brink of manhood and so far without any
significant support. Backing him would have meant that Fulk and Heribert would
be able to exert that very same influence that was denied to them under Odo.?*

Yet, this focus on the assumed political ambitions falls short when it comes
to explaining the motives of other members of the network. Anskeric and Count
Heribert, for example, were powerful men in key positions and close to Odo, the
former only recently having been promoted to archchancellor and the latter rapidly
becoming one of the leading magnates in Francia. Others, like Heribert’s brother
Pippin, undoubtedly joined because of their personal connections to those in the
inner core, while in the case of men like the counts Aledramnus and Ecfrid we
simply do not know enough to make a proper judgement. There is Fulk’s letter
to Arnulf to take into consideration however. At two points Fulk makes remarks
concerning Odo’s behaviour. First, Anskeric, so Fulk claims, came to him asking
for his advice concerning “insupportable” commands from the king. And second,
that those who had approached him also asked him for advice about what to do
concerning the “evil” Odo wanted to do to the sons of Gauzfrid.?”® These remarks
may of course only have been pretexts, yet it is worthwhile pursuing this thought
further.

be an overly large proportion. The image only changes if we add, as Schneider and Schneidmiiller
do, Baldwin II of Flanders and his brother Rodulf, Reginar Longneck and the descendants of
Ramnulf II of Poitiers to the group’s allies. However, we will later show that these men cannot be
so added. Following Offergeld, Reges pueri, 425, we might in addition add that most of the nobles
of the region were in fact related to the Carolingians, so that the (supposed) high concentration
of them in the group can hardly be surprising.

221 Guillot, Etapes, 210.

222 In this tenor Kienast, Vasallitat, 467-468 and Offergeld, Reges pueri, 425.

223 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 5, 381: Preterea, quod audierat huic regi suggestum, quia contra fidelitatem
ipsius et propter privatum hoc egerit commodum, infert, quod Asclericus ipse, qui hec iactitasse
videbatur, antequam de re huiuscemodi aliquid idem archiepiscopus agere conaretur, venerit ad se
presentibus Heriberto et Ecfrido comitibus et consilium simulque auxilium quesierit, quid agere de-
beret de iussionibus Odonis, qui res importabiles ei precipiebat. Ex parte quoque filiorum Gosfridi
consilium petierit de malo, quod eis Odo facere conabatur...
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During 892, the year leading up to the rebellion of Fulk and his allies, two
conflicts broke out in different parts of the realm. In the Francia, on the death of
Abbot Rodulf, Baldwin II of Flanders claimed his cousin’s abbeys of Saint-Vaast
and Saint-Bertin for himself.?* In the following months, not only did the monks
of the former declare for the count, but Odo’s own relative, Walker, whom he
had entrusted with the castle of Laon, did so as well. Castle and city both fell
soon enough and Walker was condemned to death by judgement of the nobles
who were present. Odo refused to pardon him. In addition, and probably at the
instigation of the king, Bishop Dido of Laon also withheld spiritual support from
Walker during his last hours.”” The conflict with Baldwin continued nevertheless.
Even deeper rifts in Odo’s political order were caused by the succession of
Ramnulf IT at Poitiers.”® Ramnulf had an illegitimate son, Ebalus Manzer, who
was well connected at court: his uncle, Ebolus, abbot of Saint-Denis,”” served as
Odo’s archchancellor, a fact which probably helped secure Odo’s recognition of
his succession.””® In early 892, however, Odo decided to grant Poitiers to Count
Altmar,* thus provoking the revolt of Abbot Ebolus and his brother Gauzbert,
who took up their nephew’s claim. Soon after, he revoked his earlier decision and
installed his own brother Robert instead of Altmar at Poitiers, in turn leading to
a revolt of the latter. By this point, the group of nobles surrounding Fulk of Reims
had crowned the young Charles king, meaning that the rebellion would hence-
forth demand Odo’s entire attention.

These different conflicts which broke out against Odo, in Francia as well as
with Count Baldwin in Flanders and the Ramnulfids in Aquitaine, may have been
to a great part independent of each other, but they may also have been a conse-
quence of deeper problems with Odo’s rule. The source of his legitimacy as ruler
of the whole realm had been his ability to protect it against the Northmen. Yet,
by 892, the symbolic capital of the victories of the siege of Paris and the battle of
Montfaugon had been used up by his inability to more than temporarily contain
the Vikings or divert their incursions by paying them oft.”*° Furthermore, the con-
flict between Baldwin and Odo reveals a strong mistrust® of the count towards
the king. Baldwin refused Odo’s initial proposal to come to terms peacefully while

224 Annales Vedastini 892, 71. On this conflict, see also chapter V1.2 and Lof3lein, Ressources.

225 Annales Vedastini 892, 72; Regino, Chronicon 892, 139-140; Flodoard, HRE IV, c. 6, 392.

226 For a detailed study of the conflict, see chapter VI.2.

227 Ramnulf and Ebolus were brothers. Regino, Chronicon 892, 140: Post haec in Aquitaniam
proficiscitur contra Ramnulfum et fratrem eius Gozbertum et Ebulonem abbatem de sancto Di-
onisio et alios nonnullos... Annales Vedastini 892, 73: At ubi fines attigit Aquitaniae, Ebulus,
eius adventum praesciens, in fugam versus interfectus est iuxta quoddam castellum lapide; frater
quoque eius Gozbertus post haec obsessus atque in brevi vitam finivit.

228 On Abbot Ebolus see Bautier, Recueil Eudes, Introduction, XXI-XXV.

229 Altmar supported Odo even before he became king. He appears as the first witness in a charter
Odo issued for Saint-Martin in 887 (DOdo 55).

230 Annales Vedastini 889-891, 67-70. See also Favre, Eudes, 120-138 and Sassier, Hugues, 59 and
chapter IV.2.

231 On the importance of trust, see chapter VI.
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later on, in 895, the king’s determination to rebuild trust in him becomes visible
when he returned Saint-Vaast to the count without concluding a peace treaty.*”
This mistrust was probably rooted in Odo’s actions as king. The conflict around
the succession at Poitiers shows Odo acting against the interests of those close to
him.** In addition, also the king’s decisions in the case of his own relative, Walker,
whom he had entrusted with the castle of Laon but who had made peace with
Baldwin, can be noted. Walker was sentenced to death, but then, according to the
Annales Vedastini, the king did not pardon him.”* That the annals make note of
this event reflects that, in this case, Odo did not act according to common expec-
tations, but rather violated them. In this context, we can also safely assume that
the denial of absolution to Walker by Bishop Dido of Laon was the king’s doing
as well.

Against this background, Anskeric’s claim that the king had ordered him to do
intolerable things, as reported in Fulk’s letter to Arnulf, makes sense. Whether this
had actually happened or not did not matter, nor did the actual content of these
orders. Odo’s own actions appear to have already created an atmosphere in which
such accusations could easily be believed, as there were enough other examples
of his intolerable behaviour to give them credibility. By the end of 892, Odo had
not only lost his legitimacy as victor against the Normans, but may also have been
deeply mistrusted by many important nobles. Next to the political ambitions of
Fulk and some of his allies, this possible crisis of trust in the king may well serve
as an answer to why so many nobles from Francia chose to oppose Odo.

1.2.4 The cohesion of the network

A brief account of the ups and downs of the rebellion will allow us to draw some
conclusions about the strengths and weaknesses of the alliance which had formed
around Charles. After Fulk and his allies had elevated Charles to the throne, they
mobilised an army to march against Odo. The following encounter ended with-
out any blood being shed after all parties withdrew. In autumn Odo managed to
surprise Charles’ group and force them out of the realm. Yet, in another surpris-
ing march, the allies returned to Francia in September and an armistice was con-
cluded until Easter 894.> The end of the armistice saw both sides gathering their
forces, with Odo besieging Charles at Reims. Leaving the city garrisoned, Fulk and

232 For a detailed study of the conflict, see chapter V1.2, were we further elaborate on these thoughts.

233 See chapter VI.2.

234 Annales Vedastini 892, 72: Nam antea Walkerus eius consobrinus castrum Ludunensium, quod a
rege perceperat, per tirannidem obtinuit, sed rex castellum obsedit ipsamque civitatem mox cepit. Et
post paucos dies diiudicatus, sed rex non sibi praevidit, capite eum iussit truncari; contrary to the
annals Regino (Chronicon 892, 139-140) reports that Walker was executed because he had drawn
his sword against the king in a public assembly.

235 Annales Vedastini 893, 73-74.



54 I. Becoming king: The questions of legitimacy and support

his allies took the young Carolingian and moved to meet Arnulf, who acknowl-
edged him as king and sent Lotharingian troops to support him. Encountering
Odo, however, the Lotharingians refrained from fighting him and returned home,
forcing Charles to seek refuge with Richard the Justiciar in Burgundy, where he
was pursued by Odo, although without success. Deprived of their supplies in Fran-
cia and now in conflict with Richard, Charles’ allies then went to devastating the
region.”*

In 895, events took a new turn, as Arnulf succeeded in installing his son Zwen-
tibold as king in Lotharingia. In return for the promise of a part of the Western
realm, Zwentibold agreed to an alliance with Charles and joined forces with him
to besiege Laon, forcing Odo to withdraw behind the Seine. The alliance between
Charles and Zwentibold, however, soon became fragile and those who were with
Charles sent to Odo to open negations: Charles should be granted a part of the
realm, they themselves should receive the king’s peace. Odo’s subsequent return
to Francia forced Zwentibold back to Lotharingia. The negotiations between Odo
and Charles’ supporters continued until Easter 896,%” while Odo remained in con-
trol of almost the whole of Francia apart from Reims, leaving Charles’ party short
of supplies to get through the winter. Charles’ allies now withdrew to the Moselle
and warred against Baldwin of Flanders and his brother Rodulf. In 896, the nego-
tiations finally came to an end and Odo was willing to agree to the terms proposed
the year before, leaving Charles the part of the realm held by his supporters at
that time. The decisive assembly, however, was disrupted by Count Rodulf, leading
Heribert and Erkanger to abandon Charles and go over to Odo, soon, although
reluctantly, followed by Fulk. Charles sought refuge in Lotharingia once more and
aimed to create an alliance with a group of Northmen led by Hundeus when his
remaining supporters reopened negotiations with Odo. This time, they succeeded:
peace was restored, Charles was granted a part of the realm and “promised more”;
in the context of the developments soon to come, this was undoubtedly the right
to succeed Odo.”®

Several observations can be drawn from this account: a) After the initial suc-
cess of Charles’” party, Odo’s military superiority soon became evident. He man-
aged to drive his opponents out of Francia and brought their strongholds under
his control, thus depriving them of their bases of supply. b) Their own weakness
evident, Charles’ supporters sought out potential allies from the beginning—here
we have seen Arnulf, Richard, Zwentibold and Hundeus’ Northmen. We will turn

236 Annales Vedastini 894-895, 74-75.

237 Annales Vedastini 895, 75-77.

238 Annales Vedastini 897, 78-79: ... Verum post haec hi qui cum Karolo erant, videntes suam pau-
citatem et nullum tutum habere locum refugii, iterum ad Odonem regem dirigunt, quatinus ad
memoriam reduceret, quod senior eorum filius esset sui quondam senioris, et partem aliquam ei
ex paterno regno concederet. At vero rex cum consilio suorum respondit se illi velle misereri, si sibi
liceret; et intercurrentibus nuntiis venit Karolus ad eum; quem ille benigne suscepit, deditque ei
tantum e regno, quantum sibi visum fuit, promisitque maiora et remisit eum ad locum suum...
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to them and others in detail further below. c¢) Several of these allies soon turned
into enemies. d) Despite his superiority on the battlefield, Odo appears to have
had a fundamental interest in re-establishing peace with Charles and his allies. )
Negotiations appear to have been complicated, starting in 895 and taking most of
that and the following year. The initial proposition from Charles’ allies appears to
have been the basis for the final agreement: a partition of the realm and the re-
entering of those who had supported him into Odo’s peace. f) Only one moment
occurred when defections actually took place: after the failure of the negotiations
in 896, when almost all of Francia had been lost to Odo and no more potential
allies were on the horizon.

Given all this, the cohesion of the group around Charles appears remarkable.
Only after three and a half years of war, after having lost their bases and without
the prospect of other potential alliance partners, and at the same time embroiled
in conflict with Baldwin and his brother, did members of the network go over to
Odo. Despite the constant setbacks, Fulk and Charles’ other supporters demon-
strated a notable ability to seek out allies against Odo. While their own strength
evidently would not suffice to prevail against the Robertian, in alliance with Zwen-
tibold they succeeded in forcing Odo out of Francia. Even by itself, this sufficed
to pose a constant threat to Odo and to divert him from other duties, such as de-
fending the realm against the Northmen, as the Annales Vedastini remark.** Thus
Odo was as interested in coming to terms with the rebels as they were—the only
question remaining was what price would have to be paid.

1.2.5 Allies sought within the realm

Charles” network of supporters was certainly stronger than that which had tried
to elevate Wido of Spoleto and then Arnulf back in 888, yet it still was not in a
position to guarantee success in imposing a new king. Other possible allies had
to be sought out, within and beyond of the realm. The most obvious course was
to look to those already in conflict with Odo—the Ramnulfids and Baldwin IT of
Flanders. In its entry describing late 892, the Annales Vedastini mention “others”
who joined up with the prospective rebels around Fulk to convince Odo to leave
Francia.*® The Ramnulfides have often been linked to the rebellion** and it might
indeed be that they are the “others” here, yet, as no other source indicates a con-

239 Annales Vedastini 896, 78: Ac per idem tempus iterum Nortmanni cum duce Hundeo nomine
et quinque barchis iterum Sequanam ingressi; et dum rex ad alia intendit, magnum sibi et regno
malum accrescere fecit.

240 Annales Vedastini 892, 72: Franci vero, qui dudum Odoni regi infesti fuerant, sociatis sibi aliis, ut
possent compleri quae volebant, suaserunt regi, ut relicta Francia hiemandi gratia peteret Aqui-
taniam, ut Francia, quae tot annis afflicta erat, aliquatenus recuperare posset; et quia Ramnulfus
obierat, et quia Ebulus et Gotbertus ab illo disciverant, eos aut sibi resociaret aut de regno suo pel-
leret aut vita privaret.

241 Schneider, Erzbischof, 110 and Schneidmiiller, Tradition, 123.
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nection between the two groups, this must remain mere speculation. In any case,
the Ramnulfid leaders Ebolus and his brother Gauzbert died soon after,>*? thus
ending the possibility of further cooperation.

Baldwin, on the other hand, had already been allied with Fulk in the succession
of 888, when they and Abbot Rodulf, the count’s cousin,* had approached Arnulf
to take the West Frankish crown.?** After the death of Rodulf in 892, Baldwin,
against Odo’s will, claimed his cousin’s abbeys, Saint-Vaast and Saint-Bertin, for
himself.*** Fulk quickly became involved in the ensuing conflict. He and his suffra-
gans threatened all those who communicated with the count with anathema* and
sent another letter to Baldwin himself in which they reproached him for his mis-
demeanours and asked him to repent, threatening him with excommunication if
he did not comply.**” However, although Baldwin still offered resistance to Odo at
the end of 892, in another letter composed at a synod at Reims the bishops seemed
to be much more obliging. The count was informed that he had indeed been ex-
communicated for his deeds, but that this excommunication had been suspended
for the time being, due to possible advantages for state and church.*® The conclu-
sion that Fulk wanted to spare Baldwin in order to leave open the possibility for
him to join the ranks of the conspiracy against Odo comes to mind*** and indeed
the count and his brother are found at Charles’ side in 895.° Yet nothing indicates
when they had actually allied themselves with the group around the Carolingian.
The siege of Laon, however, certainly saw the end of their cooperation. Baldwin
and his brother Rodulf went over to Zwentibold and fought Odo on their own
when Charles’ allies started negotiations with the Robertian.*! Over the winter of
895/896, when Charles and Odo had agreed upon an armistice, fighting ensued
between Charles and Baldwin,*? indicating that the rift between the two groups
had become serious.

In 896 Rodulf also appeared at an assembly which concluded long lasting ne-
gotiations between Charles” supporters and Odo. Odo had finally agreed to leave

242 Annales Vedastini 892, 73.

243 On their parentage see Favre, Famille, 160.

244 Annales Vedastini 888, 65.

245 Annales Vedastini 892, 70-71.

246 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 6, 391.

247 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 7, 396-397.

248 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 7, 397: Item ad eundem cum coepiscopis suis scribens ex synodo Remis habi-
ta dominice incarnationis anno DCCCXCIL |[...] Unde communi decreto episcoporum iudicatum
fuerat eum auctoritatis canonice anathemate feriendum, sed quoniam et ecclesie et publicis regni
utilitatibus videbatur accommodus, censura suspenditur adhuc animadversionis ecclesiastice rec-
ogitandique sibi et emendandi spatium reservatur et obsecratur per misericordiam dei, ut ab hac
praesumptione animum revocet nec amplius iram dei contra se provocet, ne illi quodammodo gla-
dium praebeat, et cetera.

249 Schneider, Erzbischof, 104 and Schrdder, Synoden, 119.

250 Annales Vedastini 895, 76. When exactly they joined Charles’ side cannot be established from the
sources.

251 Annales Vedastini 895, 76.

252 Annales Vedastini 896, 77.
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Charles the part of the realm his followers had owned before the war, when Rodulf
disrupted the assembly and caused the whole agreement to fail.*® The question
arises: why did the intervention of Rodulf, who belonged neither to Charles’ side
nor Odo’s, have such dire consequences? The only possible explanation is that the
negotiations sought not only a solution for the conflict between Odo and Charles,
but a general peace including Baldwin and his brother. This meant that an ar-
rangement satisfying all three parties had to be found. When Rodulf derailed the
negotiations, we can conclude that a decision was close to being made that would
have been to his disadvantage. It seems safe to assume that, during their conflict
with Charles’ supporters, Baldwin and Rodulf had taken over honores belonging
to or claimed by Charles’ followers. This was definitely true for honores belonging
to Odo’s allies in the region: Saint-Quentin, now occupied by Rodulf, had been in
the possession of the son of Count Theoderic, one of Odo’s most loyal followers. A
general peace would have meant that some or all of these honores would have had
to be returned to their original owners—something that Rodulf would not agree
to. The problem was solved over the following winter when Baldwin’s brother was
killed in battle with Heribert.?* In 897, the different parties, including Baldwin,
came to agreements similar to those of the year before and peace was finally re-
stored. However, the underlying conflicts, Baldwin’s desire to extend his influence
in the North and his enmity with Heribert continued.*

When trying to determine Baldwin’s and his brother’s position concerning
Charles, the central point is not their timing for joining the Carolingian’s side, but
that they had already been in conflict with Odo before the start of the rebellion.
Their behaviour during these years does not point towards a fundamental oppo-
sition to Odo per se, but their aim to extend their influence in the north-east of
Francia. The contentious point between Baldwin and Odo was the abbey of Saint-
Vaast, which Baldwin had claimed for himself after his cousin Rodulf’s death.”*
Furthermore, Rodulf had used the confusion in Francia to acquire Saint-Quentin,
something that Odo could not tolerate either, since the abbey had been in the
hands of the son of one of his closest supporters. Both Baldwin and Rodulf appear
as independent actors in the political arena of Francia, their support for Charles

253 Annales Vedastini 896, 77: Odo rex placitum cum suis fidelibus habuit, volens partem regni, quam
eius fideles tenuerant, Karolo concedere. Sed Rodulfus comes omne illud placitum disrupit; unde
Heribertus et Herkengerus, omnibus iam perditis, contulerunt se ad regem Odonem, paucique rel-
icti sunt cum Karolo. Did Rodulf participate in the assembly or disrupt the proceedings from the
outside? The former seems to be the case: if the negotiations had only been interrupted by an
attack by Baldwin’s brother, then why were they not renewed shortly after, especially since Odo
seems to have been close to agreeing to terms acceptable to Charles’ supporters? Instead, many
of them now changed sides, which leads us to conclude that they had lost all hope that, after the
failure caused by Rodulf, a solution could be found.

254 Annales Vedastini 896, 78.

255 Annales Vedastini 897, 78—79. In 898, Baldwin, due to Heribert’s presence at Charles’ side, only
sent a legate to the Carolingian’s coronation (Annales Vedastini 898, 79). In 899 Baldwin attacked
Péronne against Charles’ explicit will (Annales Vedastini 899, 81).

256 For this conflict, see chapter VI.2.



58 I. Becoming king: The questions of legitimacy and support

not aimed at disposing Odo but at increasing the pressure on the king to come to
terms with them.

The character of Baldwin’s support for Charles brings us to another group of
nobles whose position has been the object of scholarly discussion ever since the
publication of an article by Jean-Pierre Brunterc’h.”*” Following Charles’ corona-
tion, the Annales Vedastini report that:

After Easter Archbishop Fulk and Count Heribert took King Charles and set
out with all the army they could muster against King Odo. Richard, William
and Altmar came against them with a considerable army. Against whom King
Odo did not hesitate to come. And he sent [messengers] to those who were
with Charles, ordering that by his guarantee they should make amends for
whatever wrong they had done them and remember the oaths they had sworn
to him.»*

Until Brunterc’h’s article, it had been assumed that Richard (the Justiciar),
William (the Pious) and Altmar (of Poitiers) came to support Charles and oppose
Odo,* a reading that would be supported by the circumstance that both William
and Altmar had been involved in the conflict ensuing around the succession of
Ramnulf IT at Poitiers in 892.2° However, Brunterc’h argues that, in fact, the three
magnates were allies of the king, having joined him in April or May 893 at the
latest.>® He translates this passage of the annals as “A I’encontre de ces derniers
(= Richard-Guillaume-Adémar), le roi Eudes vint sans tarder et dépécha ses
représentants a ceux qui étaient avec Charles, leur enjoignant de réparer par son
gage tout ce qu’ils avaient commis contre eux (= Richard-Guillaume-Adémar)
et de se souvenir du serment qu’ils lui avaient prété” Odo, therefore, assumes
the role of a mediator, offering his guarantee to Richard, William and Altmar
for deeds done by Fulk and his allies.*** Brunterc’h further links the three mag-
nates’ alliance with Odo to a number of measures taken by the king: Richard was
given the abbey of Saint-Germain of Auxerre, most probably in 893 or 894,
while William received the abbey of Saint-Julien of Brioude by March 894 at the

257 Brunterc’h, Naissance.

258 Annales Vedastini 893, 73—74: Post Pascha Domini Fulcho archiepiscopus et Heribertus comes
assumentes Karolum regem cum omni exercitu disponunt [ire] contra Odonem regem, veneruntque
contra eos Richardus, Willelmus et Hadamarus, habueruntque exercitum copiosum. Contra quos
rex Odo venire non distulit. Misitque ad eos qui cum Karolo erant mandans ut quicquid in eis
deliquissent per suum eis vadium emendarent et memores essent sacramenti quae sibi iuraverant.

259 For example Eckel, Charles, 11, Chaume, Origines, 376, Kienast, Vasallitét, 471. This reading was
supported by Altmar and William being in conflict with Odo during 892. See below.

260 See chapter VI.2.

261 Brunterc’h, Naissance, 81.

262 Brunterc’h, Naissance, 107, n. 121.

263 Sassier, Recherches, 7.
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latest.?** Finally, Bishop Adalgarius of Autun became Odo’s new archchancellor
before 28th May 893.2°

While this reading of the events has subsequently been accepted by scholars,*®
Steven Robbie has recently brought up a new argument, challenging Brunterc’h’s
view that Adalgarius had been a close supporter of Richard.”” According to him,
in light of their previous behaviour, both were “more likely at loggerheads tha[n]
natural collaborators.”*® He proposes an alternative reading: Richard, William and
Altmar indeed came up in support of Charles and Odo successfully made haste
to dissuade them.® Robbie’s analysis can be used as a starting point for further
thoughts: while Brunterc’h’s reading does agree with the syntax, he may be overly
precise with his translation—the Annales Vedastini are known to contain grievous
grammatical errors.” It is hard to imagine what wrongs Fulk’s party had done to
the three magnates that would require compensation and royal mediation; at the
same time William and Altmar (and possibly Richard as well) were in conflict with
Odo himself.*" In addition, why should the annalist emphasise that Odo did not
hesitate to march against them, when he already had the support of these powerful
men? Finally, while it is certain that Saint-Germain of Auxerre and Saint-Julien of
Brioude came under the control of Richard and William respectively, these acqui-
sitions cannot be dated precisely enough to determine whether Odo had already
granted them before Easter 893. That these grants were related to these events is
indeed possible; however, another explanation seems more plausible, especially
considering that over the next few years neither William nor Altmar appear again
in the struggle between Charles and Odo, while Richard subsequently behaved
like “aloose cannon,” as Steven Robbie put it.?? Richard, William and Altmar were
not Odo’s allies at that particular moment, but nothing indicates that they sup-
ported Charles. In fact, Fulk asked Bishop Teutbald of Langres to inquire into the
attitude of Richard and the Aquitanians.?” If they had been allied, this would not
have been necessary. It seems therefore most likely that they marched up north
with an army as a third party, one that would offer itself to the highest bidder. Odo

264 Cartulaire Brioude, N° 182, 194-195. For the date see Brunterc’h, Naissance, 104-105.

265 DOdo 33.

266 Guillot and Sassier, Pouvoirs I, 162-165 and Koziol, Politics, 228.

267 Brunterc’h, Naissance, 82.

268 Robbie, Emergence, 46.

269 Robbie, Emergence, 46.

270 Rau, Quellen II, 6.

271 See above. Indeed, it seems much more likely that Odo sent his envoys to Fulk and his allies de-
manding them to compensate him for their wrongdoings towards him and asking for guaranties
against further misbehaviour.

272 Robbie, Emergence, 47.

273 Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 6, 395.
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then won the race by granting these magnates important abbeys, buying not their
support, but their neutrality.**

Neither William, Altmar nor Richard can therefore be linked to Charles and
his supporters at the beginning of the rebellion. At least two of them, William and
Altmar, had already been in conflict with Odo and none of them appears to have
fundamentally opposed his rule. Like Baldwin and his brother Rodulf, they used
the chaos in Francia to enforce their claims. Faced with the rebellion of Fulk and
his allies, Odo needed to pacify this conflict; it did not challenge his rule as such,
but prevented him from concentrating his forces in Francia. While Altmar soon
returned to Odo’s side, the image is less clear for William.”> A charter from Saint-
Julien of Brioude dates to “the fifth year of the reign of King Charles,”*¢ corre-
sponding to 897 and therefore the year of the final agreement between Charles and
Odo.”” Unfortunately, the charter, while naming William as lay abbot, does not
indicate whether he was present at that moment or had had a hand in the proceed-
ings in any other way. We might therefore suggest, although with great care, that in
897 William was in contact with Charles and thus increased the pressure on Odo.

Richard, despite the agreement with Odo, became repeatedly involved in the
conflict. In 894, Charles and his allies were forced to leave Francia and seek shelter
with Richard in Burgundy. Odo followed them, but failed to secure a victory in
battle. It was undoubtedly during this campaign that he stayed at Flavigny, issu-
ing a diploma for the abbey of Montiéramey.”® This was not only an attempt to
prevent Charles’ supporters from establishing a new base in northern Burgundy,
where Adelaide’s family had connections.”” It also affirmed Odo’s control of the
Troyes region, where Montiéramey, as well as the donated goods, were located.
Furthermore, the intervention of Count Hucbald in the diploma was a symbol of
Odo’s own ties to and control over Francia, the heartland of Charles” supporters.
Finally, his stay at Flavigny might also be taken as a gesture against Richard, who,
after the death of Bishop Adalgarius of Autun, Odo’s archchancellor, had installed

274 'This conclusion is also supported by a charter issued by Abbess Ava, sister of William, in which
the villa of Cluny is exchanged for an allod in Einville. Its date reads anno primo certantibus
duobus regibus de regno Odono vidilicet et Karolo (Originaux Cluny, N° 2, 26-29). The charter
was issued on 9th November 893 (the certantibus—fighting, struggling—argues against a date
of 897, which has also been put forward: the two kings are unlikely to have been fighting after
the settlement of 897)—several months after William and the others are supposed to have allied
themselves with Odo. Yet, at that moment, the count recognised both the Robertian and the
Carolingian as kings. Since this charter was issued before William’s first charter for Saint-Julien
of Brioude (see chapter I.2.5, n. 264), we might even suggest that the settlement with Odo had not
been fully implemented by November 893, leading to the discontent of the count.

275 See also chapter VI.2.

276 Grand Cartulaire, N® CCCXXXVII, 96: anno V regnante Karolo rege.

277 Kienast, Vasallitit, 466, n. 1654, taking in conseridation the terms of office of Provost Eldefredus
and Deacon Bernardus, both named in the charter.

278 DOdo 38. On the date see also the comment of Bautier, Recueil Eudes, 160-161.

279 Werner, Nachkommen, 432. Adelheid’s brother Wulfard had been abbot of Flavigny. See also
above.
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Walo, brother of his right hand man Manasses, in this see, although the commu-
nity had elected Aquinus, the provost of Flavigny.?*

Whether Charles’ party had originally intended to move as far south as
Richard’s lands remains an open question, but, without a doubt, Odo’s campaign
did not leave them much of a choice. Even if Richard actually agreed to an alli-
ance with Charles’ party, it did not hold for long. By the end of 894, Manasses had
attacked Bishop Teutbald of Langres, who had opposed the installation of Walo
at Autun, and blinded him.”® Since Teutbald had been close to Fulk both sides
entered into conflict.®? Odo, at this point if not earlier, had changed his strategy
from trying to overwhelm his opponents by force to depriving them of their bases
of supply, taking their possessions in Francia.®® The situation of Charles’ sup-
porters turned desperate. Without supplies from Richard they were now forced to
live off the land, leading to a wave of violence and devastation, emphasised by all
contemporary witnesses.?*

This did not mean the end of contact between Charles and Richard. In the
winter of 895/6, a meeting in southern Lotharingia took place at Remiremont.?*
Emperor Lambert and King Rudolf signed next to Charles, yet also present were
Manasses and Rampo. Manasses was the right hand man of Richard the Justiciar
and Rampo was involved in the blinding of Bishop Teutbald of Langres. In this
affair, Fulk had not only tried to protect his relative Rampo, but had also done his
best to delay the excommunication of Richard and Manasses demanded by the
pope.” Whether Charles gained any actual support during this time is not appar-
ent from the sources, but he remained in contact with Richard. In late 896, Richard
and Charles were still negotiating, as is signalled by the presence of the count of

280 Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 134. Futhermore, it is possible that at the time Troyes was already
in the hands of Richard, thus strengthening this assumption. The first indication that the count
was in control of the city, however, only stems from December 896, when he dispensed justice
in favour of abbot Berthard of Montiéramey at the placitum of Courtenois (21st December 896;
Cartulaire Montiéramey, N° 12, 18). See also Crété-Protin, Eglise, 307-308, who misdates the
event to January.

281 Annales Vedastini 894, 75. See also Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 134-135.

282 Pope Formosus, upon being confronted with Richard’s crimes not only against Teutbald, but
also against archbishop Walter of Sens, excommunicated Richard, Manasses and Rampo and
demanded the bishops do the same (Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 3, 377). Fulk did not question the
decision to excommunicate the first two, but defended the innocence of his relative Rampo (Flo-
doard, HRE 1V, c. 3, 376-377).

283 Annales Vedastini 895, 75.

284 Annales Vedastini 895, 75: Burgundiam acriter depopulati sunt. Regino, Chronicon 893, 141: Et sic
alternatem ex utraque parte multi pereunt, ingens malicia, innumerabiles rapinae et assiduae predae
fiunt. Flodoard, HRE 1V, c. 53, 455—456: Tempore, quo inter reges Odonem et Karolum graves ageban-
tur Francorum in regno discordie, per hanc accasionem licito rapine et depredations fiebant, confusum
erat fasque nefas, nusquam Deu aut humanarum timor legume, sed vi et potential universa constabant.

285 Liber Memorialis Remiremont, 21, fol. 11v. Karolus rex iuuenis, Lanbertus imperator, Rodulfus rex,
Rampo, Vuitbertus, Rotrudis, Adeldrudis, Siifridus, Gotdofridus, Manases, Eldigarius ep., Folco ep.,
Uuilerius, Lehutaldus. For the dating and identifications, see Hlawitschka, Lotharingien, 147-152.
On the motivation of Rudolf, king of Upper Burgundy, see Demotz, Bourgogne, 96—97.

286 See chapter 1.2.5, n. 282.
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the palace Elduin at Richard’s court.?®” Since the charter is dated by Charles’ reign,
we can conclude that Richard did not favour Odo at that moment.*® Once peace
in Francia was restored, Richard also re-entered the king’s favour. A diploma dat-
ing to October 897 shows him at Odo’s court, honouring him as “Richard, our
illustrious and beloved count.”**

To summarise, we should note that, inside the realm, two leading nobles ap-
pear to have allied themselves with Charles’ supporters: Baldwin of Flanders, to-
gether with his brother Rodulf; and Richard the Justiciar. Neither alliance lasted
for long and at least for some time the rebels ended up in open conflict with both
parties. This points towards the general character of these coalitions. They came
into being because both sides hoped to profit from each other in their individual
struggles against Odo. That they proved to be only short lived and were super-
seded by hostilities was the result of the fundamental differences in the nature of
their opposition to the king. Neither Baldwin nor Richard aimed at replacing Odo
with another king. Both fought to extend their influence. In the end, under which
king they would achieve this did not matter. This freed their own policies from
the restrictions the members of the network’ suffered from. They could change
sides whenever they deemed it profitable. Fulk and the others had to remain with
Charles or abandon everything they fought for.

1.2.6 Allies sought outside the realm

Those who were with Charles not only sought allies from within the realm, they
also looked for supporters from outside. Such support could come from the kings
of Eastern Francia, Lotharingia (once it had become independent under Zwen-
tibold), Italy, Upper Burgundy, Provence and the pope. By the end of 896, Fulk
had turned to almost all of them, and in some cases more than once. The first
choice was Arnulf, whose superiority had already been acknowledged by Odo in
888. Fulk’s letter to him was not only meant to soothe Arnulf’s anger over the
coronation and to prevent him from intervening in Western Francia. It was also
aimed at winning his trust and getting him to renounce his support for Odo while
recognising Charles, and, finally, obtaining material support. That this also meant
accepting Arnulf’s superiority did not really matter at that moment, as long as

287 Cartulaire Montiéramey, N° 12, 18 (21st December 896).

288 One could add to this a charter from Saint-Julien of Brioude (Grand Cartulaire, N° CCCXXXVTI,
96), where William the Pious was lay abbot and which dates anno V regnante Karolo rege (cor-
responding with 897 taking in conseridation the terms of office of Provost Eldefred and Deacon
Bernard, both named in the charter; Kienast, Vasallitdt, 466, n. 1654). The charter names William
as lay abbot, but does not otherwise indicate whether he was present at that moment or had had a
hand in the proceedings in any other manner. We may therefore assume, although only with great
care, that also William was in contact with Charles or putting pressure on Odo at that moment.

289 DOdo 42 (21st October 897, Nanteuil-le-Haudouin), 180: Richardus, illustris dilectusque nobis
comes. Richard asked for goods in Atuyer to be granted to a certain Gislebert.
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Arnulf confirmed Charles as the legitimate king and thus demonstrated that his
claim was just. In 893, Fulk’s efforts to win Arnulf for Charles’ cause proved futile,
yet a year later the king finally changed his position and agreed to meet Charles
at an assembly at Worms.* Fulk and his allies brought rich gifts and Charles was
benignly received. The Carolingian made a promissio of which nothing further is
known, whereupon Arnulf granted him the kingdom of his father and even pro-
vided military assistance.?"

Arnulf’s motivation to change his course so completely has been the subject
of ample discussion.””> Most convincing so far is the pragmatic view of Arnulf’s
situation offered by Thilo Offergeld. According to his argument, Odo’s position
had b